335

ON THE AVERAGE OPERATORS, OSCILLATORY INTEGRALS, SINGULAR INTEGRALS AND THEIR APPLICATIONS*

Shaoguang Shi¹, Zunwei Fu¹ and Qingyan Wu^{1,†}

Abstract This paper is a survey on three types of integral operators and their applications based on the research work of the authors and their cooperators in the recent decade. The first type is the average operator, including Hardy operators, Hausdorff operators and Hardy-Littlewood maximal operators. The second is the oscillatory type integral operator, such as one-sided oscillatory integral operators, Fourier transforms, fractional Fourier transforms and linear canonical transforms. The third type is the singular integral operators, including Hilbert transform, Riesz transforms, Cauchy type operators, etc. We mainly investigate their norm estimations, boundedness, weighted estimations, compactness characterizations and their properties in various function spaces.

Keywords Average operator, oscillatory integral, singular integral, function space.

MSC(2010) 42B20, 26D15, 42B30, 43A15, 43A17, 47G10, 42B25, 42B35, 42B99.

Contents

1 Introduction

2	Average operators			
	2.1	2.1 Average operators on Euclidean fields		
	2.2			
		2.2.1	Hardy operators on p -adic field $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	343
		2.2.2	The Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operator on p -adic field	344
		2.2.3	Weighted Hardy operators on <i>p</i> -adic field	344
	2.3	Average operators on the Heisenberg group		345
		2.3.1	Hardy operator on the Heisenberg group	346
		2.3.2	Weighted Hardy operators on the Heisenberg group	349
		2.3.3	Hausdorff operator on the Heisenberg group	350

¹Department of Mathematics, Linyi University, Linyi 276005, China

*The authors were supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 12171221, 12271232 and 12071197) and National Science Foundation of Shandong Province (Nos. ZR2021MA031 and 2020KJI002).

[†]The corresponding author.

Or	avera	ge operators, oscillatory integrals, singular integrals and their applications	335			
3	Oscillatory type integral operators					
	3.1	One-sided oscillatory integral operators	355			
	3.2	Fractional Fourier transforms	358			
	3.3	Linear canonical transforms	363			
4	Singular integral operators 36					
	4.1	Riesz type operators	367			
	4.2	Cauchy type operators	368			
		4.2.1 Cauchy integrals and Cauchy–Leray integral	368			
		4.2.2 Cauchy-Szegő projection operators	370			

1. Introduction

In [68], Stein mentioned that there are three important types of operators in harmonic analysis, namely average operators, oscillatory integrals and singular integrals. The average operators, including Hardy operators, Hausdorff operators, Hardy-Littlewood maximal operators, etc. Properties of these operators in Euclidean space have been well studied, and a large number of results have been obtained. In this paper, we also focus on the boundedness of such operators and their commutators in the setting of homogeneous groups and local fields.

For a locally integrable function b and an integral operator T, the commutator operator for a proper function f can be defined by $[b, T]f := T_b(f) = bT(f) - T(bf)$. During the past decade, the theory of commutator has developed in a variety of directions, such as the role in studying the regularity of solutions to PDEs, see e.g. [42, 49, 53-55], the characterizations of function spaces see e.g. [15, 56-59]. On the Euclidean space, we also obtained some different characterizations of central Campanato spaces via the boundedness and compactness of commutators of Hardy type operators. More precisely, we proved in [52] that commutators of Hardy operators, including the fractional Hardy operator, are compact operators on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)(1 spaces if and only if the symbol functions of commutators$ belong to $CVMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces (the central $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ closure of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$). In [27], we addressed two characterizations of $BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ type space via the commutators of Hardy operators with homogeneous kernels on Lebesgue spaces by exploiting the center symmetry of Hardy operator deeply and by a more explicit decomposition of the operator and the kernel function. In [29], we obtained characterizations of commutators of several versions of maximal functions on spaces of homogeneous type. In addition, we provided weighted version of the commutator theorems by establishing new characterizations of the weighted BMO space.

On the *p*-adic field, we established sharp estimates for the *p*-adic Hardy and Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operators on power-weighted Lebesgue spaces. Also, we proved that the commutators generated by the *p*-adic Hardy operators, the fractional *p*-adic Hardy operators, Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operators and the central BMO functions are bounded on $L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)$, more generally, on Herz spaces [24, 30]. For the weighted version, in [71], we established necessary and sufficient conditions for boundedness of weighted *p*-adic Hardy operators on *p*-adic Morrey spaces, *p*-adic central Morrey spaces and *p*-adic λ -central BMO spaces, respectively, and obtained their sharp bounds. We also gave the characterization of weight functions for which the commutators generated by weighted *p*-adic Hardy operators and λ -central BMO functions are bounded on the p-adic central Morrey spaces. This result is different from that on Euclidean spaces due to the special structure of p-adic integers.

In the setting of the Heisenberg group, we obtained the sharp (p, p)(1estimate for the Hardy operator, and got the best constant in the weak type <math>(1, 1)inequality for the Hardy operator. We also established the boundedness for the Hardy operator from H^1 to L^1 . Moreover, for $1 \le p < \infty$, we described the difference between M_p weights and A_p weights and obtained the characterization of such weights using the weighted Hardy inequalities [73]. For the weighted version, we characterized the weights w for which the weighted Hardy operator H_w is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$, $1 \le p \le \infty$, and on $BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)$. Meanwhile, the corresponding operator norm in each case was derived. Furthermore, we introduced a type of weighted multilinear Hardy operators and obtained the characterization of their weights for which the weighted multilinear Hardy operators are bounded on the product of Lebesgue spaces on the Heisenberg group. In addition, the corresponding norms were worked out [14].

In [46,47], we studied the Hausdorff operator, defined via a general linear mapping A, on weighted Herz spaces and weighted Morrey spaces in the setting of the Heisenberg group. Under some assumptions on the mapping A, we established its sharp boundedness on power-weighted Herz spaces, power-weighted Lebesgue spaces and power-weighted Morrey spaces on the Heisenberg group. In addition, we obtained the boundedness of commutators of such Hausdorff operators on power-weighted Morrey spaces on the Heisenberg group.

We defined weighted Hardy spaces by means of their atomic characterization on the Heisenberg group in [72], and established the sharp boundedness of Hausdorff operators on power-weighted Hardy spaces. Moreover, we obtained sufficient and necessary conditions for the boundedness of Hausdorff operators on local Hardy spaces on the Heisenberg group. In [70], we obtained the boundedness from Lebesgue spaces to Hardy spaces for fractional Hausdorff operators and their compositions with Riesz transforms. We also established the boundedness for two kinds of special Hausdorff operators, the Hausdorff-Poisson operator and the Hausdorff-Gauss operator, on Hardy spaces.

The theory of singular integrals and function spaces has a central role in modern harmonic analysis with extensive applications to other fields such as PDEs, capacity theory and potential theory, see [9, 16, 39, 50, 60-62, 64, 66, 67, 75]. Using the properties for the Hilbert transform and Clifford analytic techniques, Gu et. al [32, 33, 38] established the Riemann-Hilbert problems in Clifford value Hölder spaces and Lebesgue *p*-integrable spaces. Based on the Newton embedding method, Gu et. al [34-37] also obtained the existence and uniqueness for the nonlinear Riemann-Hilbert problem and also gave the error estimation for the approximate solutions in the Newton embedding procedure.

In section three, we focus on oscillatory type integrals related to the one defined by Ricci and Stein [45], which have been an essential part of harmonic analysis; three sections are devoted to them in the book [68]. The Fourier transform (one of the most important and powerful tools in theoretical and applied mathematics), the Bochner-Riesz means and the Radon transform are some versions of oscillatory integrals. In this section, we considered one-sided oscillatory integral operators, fractional Fourier transforms, and linear canonical transforms. The one-sided weighted classes of Muckenhoupt type were used to study the weighted weak type (1,1) norm inequalities for the one-sided oscillatory singular integrals. Furthermore, we gave the weighted norm inequalities for commutators of the one-sided oscillatory integral operators.

Motivated by analyzing non-stationary signals, there are many results about the Fourier transform of fractional order. Nowadays, the fractional Fourier transform (FRFT for short) has found various applications in scientific research and engineering technology, such as swept filter, artificial neural network, wavelet transform, time-frequency analysis, time-varying filtering, complex transmission, PDEs and so on (see, e.g., [5, 22, 76–80]). We studied the L^p theory of the FRFT and FRFT properties of L^1 functions via the introduction of a suitable chirp operator. We solved the problems of convergence and studied the FRFT inversion problem via approximation by the fractional Gauss and Abel means. Moreover, the regularity of fractional convolution and results on pointwise convergence of FRFT means and the L^p multiplier results and a Littlewood-Paley theorem associated with FRFT were also considered.

In section four, we collect our works for some singular integral operators in complex analysis, including Hilbert transforms, Riesz transforms, Cauchy type operators, Cauchy-Szegö projection operators, etc. Further study on singular integrals and related PDEs leads to commutators of these operators. There are quite a number of recent results on the characterizations of commutators in the above forms for singular integrals in different settings. Inspired by these classical results above, it is natural to ask whether these results hold on stratified Lie groups, especially on Heisenberg groups. Note that in several complex variables, the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^n is the boundary of the Siegel upper half space, which is holomorphically equivalent to the unit sphere in \mathbb{C}^n . And hence, the role of the Riesz transform on \mathbb{H}^n is similar to the role of the Hilbert transform on the real line. There are also some other works about singular integrals, see e.g. [2, 21, 63] for multilinear integrals and [43] for Marcinkiewicz integrals.

Duong-Li-Li-Wick [18] established the characterization of the BMO space on stratified nilpotent Lie groups via the boundedness of the commutator of the Riesz transforms. This extends the well-known Coifman, Rochberg, Weiss theorem [15] on Euclidean space to the setting of stratified Lie groups. In [7], we obtained the characterization of compactness of the commutators of R_j with respect to VMO, the space of functions with vanishing mean oscillation on stratified Lie group, which extends the well-known result of Uchiyama [69] on Euclidean spaces.

The quaternionic Heisenberg group \mathcal{H}^{n-1} plays a fundamental role in quaternionic analysis and geometry. Its analytic and geometric behaviors are different from the usual Heisenberg group in many aspects, e.g., there is no nontrivial quasiconformal mapping between the quaternionic Heisenberg group while quasiconformal mappings between Heisenberg groups are abundant. The quaternionic Siegel upper half space can be identified with the quaternionic Heisenberg group \mathcal{H}^{n-1} . In [6], Chang, Markina and Wang determined the kernel of the Cauchy-Szegő projection on quaternionic Siegel upper half space. We further obtained its explicit formula [4], and then based on this, we proved that the Cauchy–Szegő projection on quaternionic Heisenberg group is a Calderón–Zygmund operator. We also obtained a suitable version of pointwise lower bound for the kernel, which further implies the characterization of the boundedness and compactness of commutators of the Cauchy–Szegő operator via the BMO and VMO spaces on quaternionic Heisenberg group, respectively.

Recently, Lanzani and Stein [40] studied the Cauchy–Szegő projection operator

in a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain D in \mathbb{C}^n , whose boundary bD satisfies the minimum regularity condition of class C^2 . They obtained the $L^p(bD)$ boundedness $(1 of a family of Cauchy integrals <math>\{\mathbb{C}_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon}$, We studied the commutator of these Cauchy type integrals, and showed that the commutator $[b, \mathbb{C}]$ is bounded on $L^p(bD)$ $(1 or on weighted Morrey space <math>L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD)$ $(v \in A_p, 1 if$ and only if <math>b is in the BMO space on bD. Moreover, the commutator $[b, \mathbb{C}]$ is compact on $L^p(bD)$ $(1 or on weighted Morrey space <math>L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD)$ $(v \in A_p, 1$ if and only if <math>b is in the VMO space on bD. Our method can also be applied to the commutator of Cauchy–Leray integral in a bounded, strongly \mathbb{C} -linearly convex domain D in \mathbb{C}^n with the boundary bD satisfying the minimum regularity $C^{1,1}$.

2. Average operators

We begin with some function spaces which are needed in this section. Let $1 \le p < \infty$. Then for any ball $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, the classical Campanato space and Morrey space are defined by the following norms (see e.g. [56, 57])

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{|B|^{\lambda}} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f - f_B|^p dx\right)^{1/p}, \quad -1/p < \lambda < 1/n$$

and

$$\|f\|_{M^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \sup_{B} \frac{1}{|B|^{\lambda}} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(x)|^{p} dx\right)^{1/p}, \quad -1/p < \lambda < 0.$$

respectively. The excellent structures of the spaces $C^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $M^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ render them useful in the study of PDEs and the Sobolev embedding theorems. The central version of these spaces are defined by the following norm [58]

$$\|f\|_{\dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \coloneqq \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|B(0,r)|^{\lambda}} \left(\frac{1}{|B(0,r)|} \int_{B(0,r)} |f - f_{B(0,r)}|^p dx\right)^{1/p}$$

and

$$\|f\|_{\dot{M}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|B(0,r)|^{\lambda}} \left(\frac{1}{|B(0,r)|} \int_{B(0,r)} |f|^p dx\right)^{1/p}$$

If $\lambda = 0$, then $\dot{C}^{p,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) = C\dot{M}O^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (the bounded central mean oscillation function space) with the equivalent norm

$$||f||_{C\dot{M}O^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \sup_{r>0} \inf_{c\in\mathbb{C}} \left(\frac{1}{|B(0,r)|} |f(y) - c|^{p} dy\right)^{1/p}.$$

If $0 < \lambda < \frac{1}{p}$, then $\dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) = C\dot{M}O^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (the λ -central bounded mean oscillation space) [24].

2.1. Average operators on Euclidean fields

In this subsection, we focus on Hardy operators in \mathbb{R}^n . The *n*-dimensional Hardy operator and its dual operator on \mathbb{R}^n are defined by [13] as

$$Hf(x) = \frac{1}{|x|^n} \int_{|y| < |x|} f(y) dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$$

and

$$H^*f(x) = \int_{|y| \ge |x|} \frac{f(y)}{|y|^n} dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\},$$

respectively. In [24], we gave some characterizations of $CMO^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $1 by the boundedness of <math>H_b$ and H_b^* , on Lebesgue spaces as:

$$b \in C\dot{M}O^{\max\{p,p'\}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \iff H_b(H_b^*) : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

where $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$. Zhao and Lu [84] characterized $C\dot{M}O^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with more restrictions on λ as

$$\begin{split} b &\in C\dot{M}O^{\max\{p,p'\},\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n) \Longleftrightarrow H_b(H_b^*) : L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^q(\mathbb{R}^n), \\ 0 &\leq \lambda = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}, \ 1$$

We settled the characterization for the case $-1/p < \lambda < 0$ under the assumption that b satisfies the following mean value inequality [56]

$$\sup_{B \ni x} |f(x) - f_B| \le \frac{C}{|B|} \int_B |f(x) - f_B| dx.$$

In [58], we obtained the boundedness characterization of $\dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as follows.

Theorem 2.1. Let $1 (a) <math>b \in \dot{C}^{p_1,\lambda_1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$;

(b) Both H_b and H_b^* are bounded operators from $\dot{M}^{p_2,\lambda_2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\dot{M}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The mean value inequality is very important in the proof of the Theorem 2.1. If we drop this assumption, the following result can be deduced under some stronger condition.

Theorem 2.2. Let $2 and <math>-1/(2p) < \lambda < 0$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

(a)
$$b \in \mathcal{C}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n);$$

(b) Both H_b and H_b^* are bounded operators from $\dot{M}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\dot{M}^{p,2\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

For $0 < \alpha < n$, the *n*-dimensional fractional Hardy operator and its dual operator are defined by (see e.g. [24])

$$H_{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{|x|^{n-\alpha}} \int_{|y| < |x|} f(y) dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\},$$

and

$$H^*_{\alpha}f(x) = \int_{|y| \ge |x|} \frac{f(y)}{|y|^{n-\alpha}} dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\},$$

respectively. In [24], we gave some characterizations of $C\dot{M}O^p(\mathbb{R}^n)(1 via the boundedness of <math>H_{\alpha,b}$ on both Lebesgue spaces and Herz spaces. For $\lambda < 0$, we gave some characterizations of $\dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [58] as follows.

Theorem 2.3. Let p, λ , $p_i, \lambda_i, i = 1, 2, b$ as in Theorem 2.1, $0 < \alpha < \min\{n(1 - 1/p), n(\lambda_2 + 1/p_2)\}$ and let $\beta = \lambda_2 - \alpha/n$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

(a) $b \in \dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p_1,\lambda_1}(\mathbb{R}^n);$

(b) Both $H_{\alpha,b}$ and $H^*_{\alpha,b}$ are bounded operators from $\dot{M}^{p_2,\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\dot{M}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 2.4. Let $2 and let <math>\beta = \lambda - \alpha/n$. Then the following statements are equivalent: (a) $b \in \dot{\mathcal{C}}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$;

(b) Both $H_{\alpha,b}$ and $H_{\alpha,b}^*$ are bounded operators from $\dot{M}^{p,\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $\dot{M}^{p,2\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The study for the compactness of operators can be traced to Uchiyama [69] where the characterization of L^p -compactness of T_b was obtained when T is the Calderón-Zygmund singular integral and $b \in VMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since then, many results were obtained for the compactness of commutators on different function spaces, see e.g. [1,10,11]. In [52], we explored the compactness of H_b and H_b^* on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ space as

 $b \in CVMO(\mathbb{R}^n) \iff Both [b, H] and [b, H^*] are compact on <math>L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

where $CVMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the $CBMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$ closure of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In [27], we considered the following Hardy operator with homogeneous kernel, which was introduced by Fu, Lu and Zhao in [28].

$$H_{\Omega}f(x) = \frac{1}{|x|^n} \int_{|y| < |x|} \Omega(x-y)f(y)dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\},$$

where Ω satisfies

$$\Omega(tx) = \Omega(x) \quad \forall \ t > 0 \quad \& \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n;$$
(2.1)

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \Omega(x') d\sigma(x') = 0; \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\Omega \in L^q(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \quad \forall \ q \ge 1.$$
(2.3)

Similarly, we can define the dual operator of H_{Ω} as

$$H^*_\Omega f(x) = \int_{|y| \ge |x|} \frac{\Omega(x-y)f(y)}{|y|^n} dy$$

So far, there is little information on the function characterizations by the boundedness and compactness of commutators for H_{Ω} and H_{Ω}^* , this is because known results for the inverse function characterizations highly depend on the smoothness of the kernels, see e.g. [56] for $\Omega \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$. Since then, much work was being spent on weakening the conditions of Ω , for example the following so-called Hölder condition of the log type

$$|\Omega(x') - \Omega(y')| \le \frac{A}{\left(\log \frac{2}{|x'-y'|}\right)^{\gamma}} \quad \text{with} \quad A > 0, \quad \gamma > 1 \quad \text{and} \quad x', y' \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}.$$
 (2.4)

If Ω satisfies (2.4), then $\Omega \in L^q(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})$ and also satisfies

$$\int_0^1 \frac{w_q(\delta)}{\delta} (1+|\log \delta|) d\delta < \infty \quad \text{with} \quad q \geq 1.$$

If Ω satisfies (2.1) and (2.3), Fu, Lu and Zhao [28] obtained the boundedness of $[b, H_{\Omega}]$ on $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ with $b \in CBMO(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. In [27], we gave some characterizations of $CBMO(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ when Ω satisfies (2.1), (2.2) and (2.4).

Theorem 2.5. Suppose that Ω satisfies (2.1), (2.2) and (2.4). Then (a) $b \in CBMO^{\max\{p,s\}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{s} = 1$ for $q > 1 \Rightarrow$ both $H_{\Omega,b}$ and $H^*_{\Omega,b}$ are bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(b) Both $H_{\Omega,b}$ and $H^*_{\Omega,b}$ are bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \Rightarrow b \in CBMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 2.6. Let Ω satisfy (2.1), (2.2), (2.4) and $b \in BMO(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then

 $b \in CVMO(\mathbb{R}^n) \iff Both \ H_{\Omega,b} \ and \ H^*_{\Omega,b} \ are \ compact \ on \ L^p(\mathbb{R}^n).$

2.2. Average operators on *p*-adic field

In the past two decades, there is an increasing interest in the study of harmonic analysis on *p*-adic field and their various generalizations and the related theory of operators and spaces. For a prime number *p*, let \mathbb{Q}_p be the field of *p*-adic numbers. It is defined as the completion of the field of rational numbers \mathbb{Q} with respect to the non-Archimedean *p*-adic norm $|\cdot|_p$. This norm is defined as follows: $|0|_p = 0$; if any non-zero rational number *x* is represented as $x = p^{\gamma} \frac{m}{n}$, where γ is an integer and integers *m*, *n* are indivisible by *p*, then $|x|_p = p^{-\gamma}$. It is easy to see that the norm satisfies the following properties: $|xy|_p = |x|_p|y|_p$, $|x+y|_p \leq \max\{|x|_p, |y|_p\}$. Moreover, if $|x|_p \neq |y|_p$, then $|x+y|_p = \max\{|x|_p, |y|_p\}$. It is well-known that \mathbb{Q}_p is a typical model of non-Archimedean local fields.

The space \mathbb{Q}_p^n consists of points $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$, where $x_j \in \mathbb{Q}_p$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$. The *p*-adic norm on \mathbb{Q}_p^n is

$$|x|_p := \max_{1 \le j \le n} |x_j|_p, \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n.$$

Denote by $B_{\gamma}(a) = \{x \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n : |x-a|_p \leq p^{\gamma}\}$, the ball with center at $a \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n$ and radius p^{γ} , and by $S_{\gamma}(a) := \{x \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n : |x-a|_p = p^{\gamma}\}$ the sphere with center at $a \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n$ and radius $p^{\gamma}, \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}$. It is clear that $S_{\gamma}(a) = B_{\gamma}(a) \setminus B_{\gamma-1}(a)$.

Since \mathbb{Q}_p^n is a locally compact commutative group under addition, there exists a Haar measure dx on \mathbb{Q}_p^n , which is unique up to positive constant multiple and is translation invariant. We normalize the measure dx by the equality

$$\int_{B_0(0)} dx = |B_0(0)|_H = 1,$$

where $|E|_H$ denotes the Haar measure of a measurable subset E of \mathbb{Q}_p^n . Then $|B_{\gamma}(a)|_H = p^{\gamma n}, |S_{\gamma}(a)|_H = p^{\gamma n}(1-p^{-n})$ for any $a \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n$.

The following definitions of function spaces can be found in [30, 71, 74].

Let $1 \leq q < \infty$. A function $f \in L^q_{loc}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is said to be in $CBMO^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$, if

$$\|f\|_{CBMO^{q}(\mathbb{Q}_{p}^{n})} := \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{1}{|B_{\gamma}(0)|_{H}} \int_{B_{\gamma}(0)} |f(x) - f_{B_{\gamma}(0)}|^{q} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty,$$

where

$$f_{B_{\gamma(0)}} = \frac{1}{|B_{\gamma}(0)|_H} \int_{B_{\gamma(0)}} f(x) dx.$$

It is obvious that $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset BMO(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset CBMO^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$.

Let $B_k = B_k(0)$, $S_k = B_k \setminus B_{k-1}$ and χ_k is the characteristic function of S_k . Suppose that $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < q < \infty$ and $0 < r < \infty$. The homogeneous p-adic Herz space $K_r^{\alpha,q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is defined by

$$K_r^{\alpha,q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = \left\{ f \in L_{loc}^r(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) : \|f\|_{K_r^{\alpha,q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} < \infty \right\},\$$

where

$$\|f\|_{K^{\alpha,q}_r(\mathbb{Q}^n_p)} = \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} p^{k\alpha q} \|f\chi_k\|^q_{L^r(\mathbb{Q}^n_p)}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

with the usual modifications made when $q = \infty$ or $r = \infty$. It's easy to see that $K_q^{\frac{\alpha}{q},q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx), K_q^{0,q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ for all $0 < q \le \infty$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Let $1 \leq q < \infty$ and $\lambda \geq -\frac{1}{q}$. The *p*-adic Morrey space $L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is defined by

$$L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = \left\{ f \in L^q_{loc}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) : \|f\|_{L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} < \infty \right\},\$$

where

$$\|f\|_{L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} = \sup_{a \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n, \gamma \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{1}{|B_{\gamma}(a)|_H^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B_{\gamma}(a)} |f(x)|^q dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

Clearly, $L^{q,-1/q}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n), L^{q,0}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = L^{\infty}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n).$

Let $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $1 < q < \infty$. The non-homogeneous p-adic central Morrey space $B^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is defined by

$$\|f\|_{B^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} := \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}^+} \left(\frac{1}{|B_\gamma|_H^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B_\gamma} |f(x)|^q dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty.$$

The homogeneous p-adic central Morrey space $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is defined by

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} := \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{1}{|B_\gamma|_H^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B_\gamma} |f(x)|^q dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty.$$

Obviously, $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset B^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$. If $1 \leq q_1 < q_2 < \infty$, by Hölder's inequality

$$\dot{B}^{q_2,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset \dot{B}^{q_1,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n), \quad B^{q_2,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset B^{q_1,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n),$$

for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. When $\lambda < -1/q$, the spaces $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ and $B^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ reduce to $\{0\}$, and

$$\dot{B}^{q,-\frac{1}{q}}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = B^{q,-\frac{1}{q}}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) = L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n).$$

Let $\lambda < \frac{1}{n}$ and $1 < q < \infty$. The space $CBMO^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is defined by the condition

$$\|f\|_{CBMO^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} := \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\frac{1}{|B_\gamma|_H^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B_\gamma} |f(x) - f_{B_\gamma}|^q dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty,$$

where $f_{B_{\gamma}} = \frac{1}{|B_{\gamma}|_H} \int_{B_{\gamma}} f(x) dx$. When $\lambda = 0$, the space $CBMO^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ is just $CBMO^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$. If $1 \leq q_1 < q_2 < \infty$, by Hölder's inequality, we have

$$CBMO^{q_2,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \subset CBMO^{q_1,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$$

for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. By the standard proof as that in \mathbb{R}^n , we can see that

$$\|f\|_{CBMO^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} \sim \sup_{\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}} \inf_{c \in \mathbb{C}} \left(\frac{1}{|B_\gamma|_H^{1+\lambda q}} \int_{B_\gamma} |f(x) - c|^q dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

2.2.1. Hardy operators on *p*-adic field

For a function f on \mathbb{Q}_p^n , the *p*-adic Hardy operators are defined as follows

$$\mathcal{H}^p f(x) = \frac{1}{|x|_p^n} \int_{B(0,|x|_p)} f(t) dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n \setminus \{0\},$$
$$\mathcal{H}^{p,*} f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{Q}_p^n \setminus B(0,|x|_p)} \frac{f(t)}{|t|_p^n} dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n \setminus \{0\},$$

where $B(0, |x|_p)$ is a ball in \mathbb{Q}_p^n with center at $0 \in \mathbb{Q}_p^n$ and radius $|x|_p$. Let $b \in L_{loc}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$. The commutators of $\mathcal{H}^p, \mathcal{H}^{p,*}$ with b are denoted by $\mathcal{H}^p_b, \mathcal{H}^{p,*}_b$, respectively. In [30], we obtained the sharp estimates for \mathcal{H}^p and $\mathcal{H}^{p,*}$ on $L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)$.

Theorem 2.7. Let $1 < q < \infty$ and $\alpha < n(q-1)$. Then

$$\|\mathcal{H}^p\|_{L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)\to L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)} = \|\mathcal{H}^{p,*}\|_{L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)\to L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)} = \frac{1-p^{-n}}{1-p^{\frac{\alpha}{q}-\frac{n}{q'}}},$$

where $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{a'} = 1$.

In particular, when $\alpha = 0$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{H}^p\|_{L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \to L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} = \|\mathcal{H}^{p,*}\|_{L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n) \to L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)} = \frac{1 - p^{-n}}{1 - p^{-\frac{n}{q'}}},$$

where $\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{q'} = 1$. Obviously, the L^q norm of \mathcal{H}^p on \mathbb{Q}_p^n depends on n, however, the L^q norm of \mathcal{H} on \mathbb{R}^n is independent of the dimension n.

In [30], we also got the boundedness of commutators of Hardy operators on homogeneous *p*-adic Herz spaces.

Theorem 2.8. Let $0 < q_1 \le q_2 < \infty$, $1 < r < \infty$ and $b \in CBMO^{\max\{r', r\}}(\mathbb{Q}_n^n)$. Then

(1) If $\alpha < \frac{n}{r'}$, then \mathcal{H}_b^p is bounded from $K_r^{\alpha,q_1}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ to $K_r^{\alpha,q_2}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$; (2) If $\alpha > -\frac{n}{r}$, then $\mathcal{H}_b^{p,*}$ is bounded from $K_r^{\alpha,q_1}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ to $K_r^{\alpha,q_2}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$.

Corollary 2.1. Suppose that $1 < q < \infty$ and $b \in CBMO^{\max\{q',q\}}(\mathbb{Q}_n^n)$. Then (1) If $\alpha < \frac{nq}{q'}$, then \mathcal{H}_b^p is bounded from $L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)$ to $L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)$;

2.2.2. The Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operator on *p*-adic field

The Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operator on \mathbb{R} is defined by

$$Tf(x) = \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{f(y)}{\max(x,y)} dy.$$

And its norm on $L^q(\mathbb{R}^+)$, $1 < q < \infty$, is $||T||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^+) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^+)} = \frac{q^2}{q-1}$.

In [30], we considered the *p*-adic of Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operator which is defined as

$$T^{p}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \frac{f(y)}{\max(|x|_{p}, |y|_{p})} dy, \qquad x \in \mathbb{Q}_{p}^{*}.$$

We obtained the sharp estimates of T^p on $L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha} dx)$.

Theorem 2.9. Let $1 < q < \infty$ and $-1 < \alpha < q - 1$. Then

$$\|T^p\|_{L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)\to L^q(|x|_p^{\alpha}dx)} = \left(1-\frac{1}{p}\right)\left(\frac{1}{1-p^{\frac{\alpha}{q}-\frac{1}{q'}}} + \frac{p^{-\frac{\alpha+1}{q}}}{1-p^{-\frac{\alpha+1}{q}}}\right),$$

where $\frac{1}{a} + \frac{1}{a'} = 1$.

When $\alpha = 0$, we can see

$$||T^p||_{L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p)\to L^q(\mathbb{Q}_p)} = \left(1-\frac{1}{p}\right)\left(\frac{1}{1-p^{-\frac{1}{q'}}} + \frac{p^{-\frac{1}{q}}}{1-p^{-\frac{1}{q}}}\right)$$

2.2.3. Weighted Hardy operators on p-adic field

On *p*-adic field, the weighted *p*-adic Hardy operator \mathcal{H}^p_{ψ} is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}^p_\psi f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} f(tx) \psi(t) dt,$$

where ψ is a non-negative function defined on \mathbb{Z}_p^* . Obviously, if $\psi \equiv 1$ and n = 1, then \mathcal{H}_{ψ}^p is just reduced to the *p*-adic Hardy operator \mathcal{H}^p on \mathbb{Q}_p .

In [71], we got the following sufficient and necessary conditions of weight functions, under which the weighted *p*-adic Hardy operators are bounded on *p*-adic Morrey, central Morrey and λ -central BMO spaces.

Theorem 2.10. Let $1 < q < \infty$, $\Theta_n = \int_{\mathbb{Z}_n^*} |t|_p^{n\lambda} \psi(t) dt$, we have

(i) when $-1/q < \lambda \leq 0$, then \mathcal{H}^p_{ψ} is bounded on $L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_p)$ if and only if $\Theta_n < \infty$. Moreover, $\|\mathcal{H}^p_{\psi}\|_{L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_n) \to L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_p)} = \Theta_n$;

(ii) when $-1/q < \lambda \leq 0$, then \mathcal{H}^p_{ψ} is bounded on $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_p)$ if and only if $\Theta_n < \infty$. Moreover, $\|\mathcal{H}^p_{\psi}\|_{\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_n) \to \dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^n_n)} = \Theta_n$;

(iii) when $0 \leq \lambda < 1/n$, then \mathcal{H}^{p}_{ψ} is bounded on $\mathrm{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^{n}_{p})$ if and only if $\Theta_{n} < \infty$. Moreover, $\|\mathcal{H}^{p}_{\psi}\|_{\mathrm{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^{n}_{p}) \to \mathrm{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}^{n}_{p}))} = \Theta_{n}$

Corollary 2.2. Let $1 < q < \infty$, then (i) when $-1/q < \lambda \leq 0$, then $\|\mathcal{H}^p\|_{L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to L^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p)} = \frac{1-p^{-1}}{1-p^{-(1+\lambda)}};$ (ii) when $-1/q < \lambda \leq 0$, then $\|\mathcal{H}^p\|_{\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p)} = \frac{1-p^{-1}}{1-p^{-(1+\lambda)}};$ (iii) when $0 \leq \lambda < 1$, then $\|\mathcal{H}^p\|_{\mathrm{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \mathrm{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p)} = \frac{1-p^{-1}}{1-p^{-(1+\lambda)}}.$ Denote by $\mathcal{H}_{\psi,b}^p$ the commutator of the weighted *p*-adic Hardy operator \mathcal{H}_{ψ}^p and locally integrable function *b*. We established the following sufficient and necessary condition for weight functions to ensure that $\mathcal{H}_{\psi,b}^p$ are bounded on *p*-adic central Morrey spaces.

Theorem 2.11. Let $1 < q < q_1 < \infty$, $1/q = 1/q_1 + 1/q_2$ and $-1/q_1 \le \lambda < 0$. Assume that ψ is a positive integrable function on \mathbb{Z}_p^* . Then for any $b \in \mathrm{CMO}^{q_2}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ the commutator $\mathcal{H}_{\psi,b}^p$ is bounded from $\dot{B}^{q_1,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ to $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} \psi(t) |t|_p^{n\lambda} \log_p \frac{1}{|t|_p} dt < \infty$$

When $b \in \text{CMO}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ with $\lambda \neq 0$, we have the following conclusion.

Theorem 2.12. Let $1 < q < q_1 < \infty$, $1/q = 1/q_1 + 1/q_2$, $-1/q < \lambda < 0$, $-1/q_1 < \lambda_1 < 0$, $0 < \lambda_2 < \frac{1}{n}$ and $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$. If

$$\int_{\mathbb{Z}_p^*} \psi(t) |t|_p^{n\lambda_1} dt < \infty$$

then for any $b \in CMO^{q_2,\lambda_2}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$, the corresponding commutator $\mathcal{H}^p_{\psi,b}$ is bounded from $\dot{B}^{q_1,\lambda_1}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$ to $\dot{B}^{q,\lambda}(\mathbb{Q}_p^n)$.

2.3. Average operators on the Heisenberg group

The Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}^n is a non-commutative nilpotent Lie group, with the underlying manifold $\mathbb{R}^{2n} \times \mathbb{R}$ and the group law [70]

$$(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{2n}, x_{2n+1})(x'_1, x'_2, \cdots, x'_{2n}, x'_{2n+1}) = \left(x_1 + x'_1, x_2 + x'_2, \cdots, x_{2n} + x'_{2n}, x_{2n+1} + x'_{2n+1} + 2\sum_{j=1}^n (x'_j x_{n+j} - x_j x'_{n+j})\right).$$

The identity element on \mathbb{H}^n is $0 \in \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$, while the element x^{-1} inverse to x is -x. \mathbb{H}^n is a homogeneous group with dilations

$$\delta_r(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_{2n}, x_{2n+1}) = (rx_1, rx_2, \cdots, rx_{2n}, r^2x_{2n+1}), \quad r > 0.$$

The Haar measure on \mathbb{H}^n coincides with the usual Lebesgue measure on $\mathbb{R}^{2n} \times \mathbb{R}$. We denote the measure of any measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{H}^n$ by |E|. Then

$$\delta_r(E)| = r^Q |E|, \quad d(\delta_r x) = r^Q dx,$$

where Q = 2n + 2 is called the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{H}^n . The Heisenberg distance derived from the norm

$$|x|_{h} = \left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{2n} x_{i}^{2} \right)^{2} + x_{2n+1}^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{4}},$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{2n}, x_{2n+1})$, is given by $d(p,q) = d(q^{-1}p, 0) = |q^{-1}p|_h$.

For r > 0 and $x \in \mathbb{H}^n$, the ball and sphere with center x and radius r on \mathbb{H}^n are given by $B(x,r) = \{y \in \mathbb{H}^n : d(x,y) < r\}$ and $S(x,r) = \{y \in \mathbb{H}^n : d(x,y) = r\}$, respectively. And we have

$$|B(x,r)| = |B(0,r)| = \Omega_Q r^Q,$$

where

$$\Omega_Q = \frac{2\pi^{n+\frac{1}{2}}\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}{(n+1)\Gamma(n)\Gamma(\frac{n+1}{2})}.$$

The area of S(0,1) on \mathbb{H}^n is $\omega_Q = Q\Omega_Q$.

Let $1 . We say that a weight <math>w \in A_p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if there exists a constant C such that for all balls B,

$$\left(\frac{1}{|B|}\int_{B}w(x)dx\right)\left(\frac{1}{|B|}\int_{B}w(x)^{-1/(p-1)}dx\right)^{p-1} \leq C.$$

We say that a weight $w \in A_1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if there is a constant C such that for all balls B,

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} w(x) \, dx \le C \operatorname{essinf}_{x \in B} w(x) \, .$$

We define

$$A_{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n) = \bigcup_{1 \le p < \infty} A_p(\mathbb{H}^n).$$

A close relation to $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is the reverse Hölder condition. If there exist r > 1 and a fixed constant C such that

$$\left(\frac{1}{|B|}\int_B w(x)^r dx\right)^{1/r} \leq \frac{C}{|B|}\int_B w(x) dx$$

for all balls $B \subset \mathbb{H}^n$, we then say that w satisfies the reverse Hölder condition of order r and write $w \in RH_r(\mathbb{H}^n)$ (cf. [46] and references therein).

2.3.1. Hardy operator on the Heisenberg group

Let f be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{H}^n . The Hardy operator on \mathbb{H}^n [73] is defined by

$$\mathsf{H}f(x) := \frac{1}{|B(0,|x|_h)|} \int_{B(0,|x|_h)} f(y) dy, \quad x \in \mathbb{H}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$

The weak $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ space $L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is defined as the set of all measurable functions f on \mathbb{H}^n satisfying

$$\|f\|_{L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)} := \sup_{\lambda > 0} \lambda \big| \{x \in \mathbb{H}^n : |f(x)| > \lambda \} \big| < \infty.$$

A $(1, \infty, 0)$ -atom is a compactly supported $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ function f such that (i) there is a ball B whose closure contains $\operatorname{supp}(f)$ and satisfying $||f||_{\infty} \leq |B|^{-1}$; (ii) $\int f(x)dx = 0$.

The Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ can be defined by

$$H^1(\mathbb{H}^n) := \Big\{ f \in L^1(\mathbb{H}^n) : f(x) = \sum_{k=1}^\infty \lambda_k f_k(x), \ \sum_{k=1}^\infty |\lambda_k| < \infty \Big\},$$

where each f_k is a $(1, \infty, 0)$ -atom, and the H^1 norm of f can be defined by $||f||_{H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)}$:= inf $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_k|$, here the infimum is taken over all the decompositions of $f = \sum_k \lambda_k f_k$ as above [19].

In [73], we obtained the following boundedness of H on the Heisenberg group.

Theorem 2.13. Let 1 , then

(i) H is bounded from $L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ to $L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$. Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{H}\|_{L^p(\mathbb{H}^n) \to L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)} &= \frac{p}{p-1}, \quad 1$$

(ii) H is bounded from $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ to $L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)$. Moreover, $\|\mathsf{H}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)\to L^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{H}^n)} = 1$. (iii) H is bounded from $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ to $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$.

Remark 2.1. (i) H is not bounded from $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ to $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$. For example, we can take

$$f_0(x) = |x|_h^{\alpha} \chi_{B(0,R)}(x), \quad \alpha > -Q.$$

It is easy to see that $f_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$, and $||f_0||_{L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \omega_Q R^{\alpha+Q}/(\alpha+Q)$. But

$$\mathsf{H}f_0(x) = \begin{cases} Q|x|_h^\alpha/(Q+\alpha), & |x| \le R, \\ QR^{Q+\alpha}|x|_h^{-Q}/(Q+\alpha), & |x| > R, \end{cases}$$

does not belong to $L^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$.

(ii) H is not bounded from $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ to $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$. To illustrate this, we take

$$f_0(x) = \frac{1 - 2^Q}{\Omega_Q 2^{Q+1}} \chi_{\{|x|_h \le 1\}}(x) + \frac{1}{\Omega_Q 2^{Q+1}} \chi_{\{1 < |x|_h \le 2\}}(x).$$

Then f_0 is a $(1, \infty, 0)$ -atom of $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$, and

$$\mathsf{H}f_0(x) = \frac{1 - 2^Q}{\Omega_Q 2^{Q+1}} \chi_{\{|x|_h \le 1\}}(x) + \frac{1 - 2^Q |x|_h^{-Q}}{\Omega_Q 2^{Q+1}} \chi_{\{1 < |x|_h \le 2\}}(x).$$

It is clear that

$$\int \mathsf{H} f_0(x) dx = -\frac{Q}{2} \ln 2 \neq 0.$$

Thus $\mathsf{H}f_0 \notin H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$.

It is known that the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator on \mathbb{R}^n is bounded from $L^p(v)$ to $L^p(w)$ if and only if $(w, v) \in A^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. On the Heisenberg group, a pair of nonnegative weights (w, v) belongs to the class $A_p(\mathbb{H}^n)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$, if when 1

$$\sup_{B} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} w(x) dx\right) \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} v(x)^{1-p'} dx\right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

and when p = 1,

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B w(x) dx \le C \inf_{x \in B} v(x).$$

In the Euclidean space, the characterization of the weights (w, v) for the *n*-dimensional Hardy inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\mathcal{H}f(x))^p w(x) dx \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (f(x))^p v(x) dx, \quad 1 \le p < \infty,$$

was obtained by Drábek et al. in a skillful method.

The good weights (w, v) for \mathcal{H} were called M_p weights [83], $1 \leq p < \infty$. A natural question is that whether M_p weights exist on the Heisenberg group. If they exist, do the corresponding results hold for these M_p weights? We provided affirmative answers to these questions.

Assume that (w, v) is a pair of nonnegative functions. (w, v) is called an $M_1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ weight if for almost all $x \in \mathbb{H}^n$,

$$\int_{|x|_h > \alpha} |x|_h^{-Q} w(x) dx \le C \operatorname{essinf}_{|x|_h < \alpha} v(x), \quad \alpha > 0,$$

for some constant C. (w, v) is called an $M_p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ (1 weight if

$$\sup_{0<\alpha<\infty} \left(\int_{|x|_h>\alpha} |x|_h^{-Q_p} w(x) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{|x|_h<\alpha} v(x)^{1-p'} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} < \infty,$$

where 1/p + 1/p' = 1. If w = v, we say that $w \in M_p(\mathbb{H}^n), 1 \le p < \infty$.

The weighted Hardy inequalities on the Heisenberg group can also characterize M_p weights [73].

Theorem 2.14. Let w and v be nonnegative weight functions on \mathbb{H}^n . For 1 , the inequality

$$\left\{\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} w(x) \left(\mathsf{H}f(x)\right)^q dx\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \le C\left\{\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} v(x)f(x)^p dx\right\}^{\frac{1}{p}},\tag{2.5}$$

holds for $f \ge 0$ if and only if

$$A := \sup_{0 < \alpha < \infty} \left(\int_{|x|_h > \alpha} |x|_h^{-Qq} w(x) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left(\int_{|x|_h < \alpha} v(x)^{1-p'} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} < \infty.$$

Moreover, if C is the smallest constant for which (2.5) holds, then

$$A \le \Omega_Q C \le A p'^{\frac{1}{p'}} p^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

Corollary 2.3. Let w and v be nonnegative weight functions on \mathbb{H}^n . For 1 , the inequality

$$\left\{\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} w(x) \left(\mathsf{H}f(x)\right)^p dx\right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} \le C\left\{\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} v(x)f(x)^p dx\right\}^{\frac{1}{p}},\tag{2.6}$$

holds for $f \ge 0$ if and only if $(w, v) \in M_p$. Moreover, if C is the smallest constant for which (2.6) holds, then

$$A \le \Omega_Q C \le A p'^{\frac{1}{p'}} p^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

2.3.2. Weighted Hardy operators on the Heisenberg group

Let $w : [0,1] \to [0,\infty)$ be a function, the weighted Hardy operators H_w on \mathbb{H}^n [14] is defined as

$$\mathsf{H}_w f(x) := \int_0^1 f(\delta_t x) w(t) dt,$$

for a measurable function f on \mathbb{H}^n . The adjoint operator of the weighted Hardy operator, the *weighted Cesàro operator* is defined as

$$\mathsf{C}_{\omega}f(x) := \int_0^1 f(\delta_{1/t}x)t^{-Q}\omega(t)dt, \quad x \in \mathbb{H}^n,$$

which satifies

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} f(x)(\mathsf{H}_{\omega}g)(x)dx = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} g(x)(\mathsf{C}_{\omega}f)(x)dx.$$

Here $f \in L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$, $g \in L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)$, 1 , <math>q = p/(p-1), H_{ω} is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ and C_{ω} is bounded on $L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)$.

Recall that the space $BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is defined to be the space of all locally integrable functions f on \mathbb{H}^n such that

$$||f||_{BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)} := \sup_{B \subset \mathbb{H}^n} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |f(x) - f_B| dx < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all balls in \mathbb{H}^n .

In [14], we gave the characterization of w when H_w and C_w are bounded.

Theorem 2.15. Let $w : [0,1] \to (0,\infty)$ be a function and let $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then (i) H_w is bounded on $L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 t^{-\frac{Q}{p}} w(t) dt < \infty.$$
(2.7)

Moreover, if (2.7) holds, then

$$\|\mathsf{H}_w\|_{L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)\to L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \int_0^1 t^{-\frac{Q}{p}} w(t) dt.$$

(ii) H_w is bounded on $BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 w(t)dt < \infty.$$
(2.8)

Moreover, if (2.8) holds, then

$$\|\mathsf{H}_w\|_{BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)\to BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \int_0^1 w(t)dt.$$

Theorem 2.16. Let $w : [0,1] \to (0,\infty)$ be a function and let $1 \le q \le \infty$. Then (i) C_w is bounded on $L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 t^{-Q(1-1/q)} w(t) dt < \infty.$$
(2.9)

Moreover, if (2.9) holds, then

$$\|\mathsf{C}_w\|_{L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)\to L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \int_0^1 t^{-Q(1-1/q)} w(t) dt.$$

(ii) C_w is bounded on $BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_0^1 t^{-Q} w(t) dt < \infty.$$
(2.10)

Moreover, if (2.10) holds, then

$$\|\mathsf{C}_w\|_{BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)\to BMO(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \int_0^1 t^{-Q} w(t) dt.$$

2.3.3. Hausdorff operator on the Heisenberg group

Let Φ be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{H}^n . The Hausdorff operators on \mathbb{H}^n are defined by

$$T_{\Phi}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} f(\delta_{|y|_h^{-1}} x) dy, \qquad T_{\Phi,A}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} f(A(y)x) dy,$$

where A(y) is a matrix-valued function [12] and we assume det $A(y) \neq 0$ almost everywhere on the support of Φ . In the above definition, we note that $T_{\Phi,A} = T_{\Phi}$ if we choose a special matrix A. For a matrix M, we will use the norm ||M|| = $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{H}^n, x \neq 0} |Mx|_h / |x|_h.$

Suppose $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, 0 < p, $q < \infty$. Let w be a weight on \mathbb{H}^n , $\mathcal{B}_k = \{x \in \mathbb{H}^n \mid x \in \mathbb{H}^n \mid x$ $|x|_h < 2^k\}, D_k = \mathcal{B}_k \setminus \mathcal{B}_{k-1}$. The homogeneous weighted Herz space $\dot{K}_q^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{H}^n; w)$ is defined by

$$\dot{K}_{q}^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w) = \left\{ f \in L_{loc}^{q}\left(\mathbb{H}^{n} \setminus \{0\};w\right) : \|f\|_{\dot{K}_{q}^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)} < \infty \right\},\$$

where

$$||f||_{\dot{K}_{q}^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)} = \left\{ \sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} w(B_{k})^{\alpha p/Q} ||f||_{L^{q}(D_{k},w)}^{p} \right\}^{1/p}.$$

In [46], we obtained the following boundedness estimates.

Theorem 2.17. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$, $1 \leq q_1, q_2 < \infty, -\infty < \alpha_1 < 0, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $1/q_1 + \alpha_1/Q = 1/q_2 + \alpha_2/Q$. Suppose that $w \in A_\gamma$, $1 \le \gamma < \infty$, with the critical index r_w for the reverse Hölder condition and $q_1 > q_2 \gamma r_w / (r_w - 1)$.

(i) If $1/q_1 + \alpha_1/Q \ge 0$, then for any $1 < \delta < r_w$,

$$||T_{\Phi,A}f||_{\dot{K}^{\alpha_{2},p}_{q_{2}}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)} \leq C_{3}||f||_{\dot{K}^{\alpha_{1},p}_{q_{1}}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)},$$

where

$$C_{3} = \int_{\|A(y)\| < 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} |\det A^{-1}(y)|^{\gamma/q_{1}} ||A(y)||^{-\gamma\alpha_{1}} dy + \int_{\|A(y)\| \ge 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} |\det A^{-1}(y)|^{\gamma/q_{1}} ||A(y)||^{Q\gamma/q_{1} - (Q/q_{1} + \alpha_{1})(\delta - 1)/\delta} dy.$$

(*ii*) If $1/q_1 + \alpha_1/Q < 0$, then for any $1 < \delta < r_w$,

$$||T_{\Phi,A}f||_{\dot{K}^{\alpha_{2},p}_{q_{2}}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)} \leq C_{4}||f||_{\dot{K}^{\alpha_{1},p}_{q_{1}}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)}$$

where

$$C_{4} = \int_{\|A(y)\| < 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} |\det A^{-1}(y)|^{\gamma/q_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{Q\gamma/q_{1} - (Q/q_{1} + \alpha_{1})(\delta - 1)/\delta} dy + \int_{\|A(y)\| \ge 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} |\det A^{-1}(y)|^{\gamma/q_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{-\gamma\alpha_{1}} dy.$$

The result for the case $\gamma = 1, p < 1$ was also obtained in [46].

If $||A^{-1}(y)||$ and $||A(y)||^{-1}$ are comparable, we can obtain the following sharp result.

Theorem 2.18. Let $1 \leq p$, $q < \infty$, $-Q < \beta < \infty$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and Φ be a nonnegative function. Suppose that there is a constant C independent of y such that $||A^{-1}(y)|| \leq C||A(y)||^{-1}$ for all $y \in \operatorname{supp}(\Phi)$. Then $T_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded on $\dot{K}_q^{\alpha,p}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|^{\beta})$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} \|A^{-1}(y)\|^{(Q+\beta)(1/q+\alpha/Q)} dy < \infty.$$

Let Φ be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{H}^n . If $b \in L_{loc}(\mathbb{H}^n)$, the commutator of Hausdorff operator is defined by

$$T^b_{\Phi,A}f = bT_{\Phi,A}f - T_{\Phi,A}(bf).$$

Define

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_{\Phi,A}^{b,1}f \end{pmatrix}(x) = \int_{\|A(y)\| \le 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} f(A(y)x) \left[b(x) - b(A(y)x)\right] dy,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} T_{\Phi,A}^{b,2}f \end{pmatrix}(x) = \int_{\|A(y)\| > 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} f(A(y)x) \left[b(x) - b(A(y)x)\right] dy.$$

It is clear that

$$T^{b}_{\Phi,A}f = T^{b,1}_{\Phi,A}f + T^{b,2}_{\Phi,A}f.$$

Theorem 2.19. Let $1 \le p_1$, p_2 , $q < \infty$ and $-1/p_1 \le \lambda < 0$. Suppose that $w \in A_q$ with the critical index r_w for the reverse Hölder condition. If $p_1 > p_2 q r_w/(r_w - 1)$, then we have that, for any $1 < \delta < r_w$,

$$||T_{\Phi,A}f||_{\dot{L}^{p_2,\lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n;w)} \preceq C_1 ||f||_{\dot{L}^{p_1,\lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n;w)},$$

where

$$C_{1} = \int_{\|A(y)\| > 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left(\frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|} \right)^{q/p_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{Q\lambda(\delta-1)/\delta} dy + \int_{\|A(y)\| \le 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left(\frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|} \right)^{q/p_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{Q\lambda q} dy.$$

Theorem 2.20. Let $1 \leq p$, p_1 , p_2 , $q < \infty$ and $-1/p_1 \leq \lambda < 0$. Suppose that $w \in A_q$ with the critical index r_w for the reverse Hölder condition. If $1/p > (1/p_1 + 1/p_2)qr_w/(r_w - 1)$ and $q \leq p_2$, then we have that, for any $1 < \delta < r_w$,

$$||T^{b}_{\Phi,A}f||_{\dot{L}^{p,\lambda}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)} \leq C_{2}||f||_{\dot{L}^{p_{1},\lambda}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)}||b||_{CMO^{p_{2}}(\mathbb{H}^{n};w)},$$

where

$$C_{2} = \int_{\|A(y)\| > 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left(\frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|} \right)^{q/p_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{Q\lambda(\delta-1)/\delta}$$

$$\times \max\left\{ \frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|}, \log_{2} \|A(y)\|\right\} dy$$

$$+ \int_{\|A(y)\| \le 1} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left(\frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|} \right)^{q/p_{1}} \|A(y)\|^{Q\lambda q}$$

$$\times \max\left\{ \frac{\|A(y)\|^{Q}}{|\det A(y)|}, \log_{2} \frac{1}{\|A(y)\|} \right\} dy.$$

Especially, if $||A^{-1}(y)||$ and $||A(y)||^{-1}$ are comparable, the following sharp results hold.

Theorem 2.21. Let $1 \leq p < \infty$, $-1/p \leq \lambda < 0$, $-Q < \alpha < \infty$ and Φ be a nonnegative function. Suppose that there is a constant C_0 independent of y such that $||A^{-1}(y)|| \leq C_0 ||A(y)||^{-1}$ for all $y \in \text{supp}(\Phi)$. Then $T_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded on $\dot{L}^{p, \lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot |_{h}^{\alpha})$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} ||A(y)||^{(Q+\alpha)\lambda} dy < \infty.$$
(2.11)

Theorem 2.22. Let $1 \leq p$, p_1 , $p_2 < \infty$, $1/p = 1/p_1 + 1/p_2$, $-1/p_1 < \lambda < 0$, $-Q < \alpha < \infty$ and $p_2 > (Q+\alpha)/Q$ if $0 < \alpha < \infty$ or $p_2 \geq 1$ if $-Q < \alpha \leq 0$. Suppose that Φ is a nonnegative function and there is a constant C_0 independent of y such that $||A^{-1}(y)|| \leq C_0 ||A(y)||^{-1}$ for all $y \in \operatorname{supp}(\Phi)$. If $b \in CMO^{p_2}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|_h^{\alpha})$ and (2.11) holds, then we have the following conclusions.

(i) $T^{b,1}_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{p_1, \lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|_h^{\alpha})$ to $\dot{L}^{p, \lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|_h^{\alpha})$ if and only if

$$\int_{\|A(y)\| \le 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} \|A(y)\|^{(Q+\alpha)\lambda} \left|\log_2 \|A(y)\|\right| dy < \infty.$$

(ii) $T^{b,2}_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded from $\dot{L}^{p_1, \lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|_h^\alpha)$ to $\dot{L}^{p, \lambda}(\mathbb{H}^n; |\cdot|_h^\alpha)$ if and only if

$$\int_{\|A(y)\|>1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} \|A(y)\|^{(Q+\alpha)\lambda} \log_2 \|A(y)\| dy < \infty.$$

Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ be the Schwartz class on \mathbb{H}^n . Its dual space $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is the space of tempered distributions on \mathbb{H}^n . For $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{H}^n)$ and $\Psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{H}^n)$, the nontangential maximal function $M_{\Psi}f$ of f with respect to Ψ is defined by

$$M_{\Psi}f(x) = \sup_{|x^{-1}y|_h < r < \infty} |f * \Psi_r(y)|, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $\Psi_r(y) = r^{-Q} \Psi(\delta_{r^{-1}}y)$. The nontangential grand maximal function $M_{(N)}f$ is defined by

$$M_{(N)}f(x) = \sup_{\Psi \in \mathcal{S}, \|\Psi\|_N \le 1} M_{\Psi}f(x).$$
(2.13)

For $0 , let <math>N_p = [Q(1/p - 1)] + 1$. The Hardy space $H^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ [19] is defined by

$$H^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n}) = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{H}^{n}) : M_{(N_{p})}f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n}) \right\}$$

with

$$||f||_{H^p(\mathbb{H}^n)} = ||M_{(N_p)}f||_{L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)}.$$

The ordered triplet (p, q, α) is called *admissible* if 0 , $<math>\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \ge [Q(\frac{1}{p} - 1)]$, where $[\cdot]$ is the integer function. Let (p, q, α) be an admissible triplet. A function $a \in L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is called a (p, q, α) -atom [19] centered at x_0 if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i) There exists a ball $B(x_0, r)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B(x_0, r)$;

(ii) $||f||_{L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)} \le |B|^{\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}};$

(iii) $\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} f(x) P(x) dx = 0$, for any polynomial P of homogeneous degree less than or equal to α .

A function $a \in L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is called a *big* (p,q)-*atom* centered at x_0 if there exists a ball $B(x_0,r)$ with $r \geq \frac{1}{2}$ such that it satisfies (i) (ii), see [3].

If (p, q, α) is an admissible triplet, the *atomic Hardy space* $H^p_{q,\alpha}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is the set of all tempered distributions of the form $\sum_j \lambda_j f_j$ (the sum converging in the topology of \mathcal{S}'), where each f_j is a (p, q, α) -atom and $\sum_j |\lambda_j|^p < \infty$.

If $f \in H^p_{q,\alpha}(\mathbb{H}^n)$, the quasi-norm $||f||_{H^p_{q,\alpha}(\mathbb{H}^n)}$ (it is a norm when p = 1) is defined by

$$||f||_{H^p_{q,\alpha}(\mathbb{H}^n)} = \inf\left(\sum_j |\lambda_j|^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

where the infimum is taken over all (p, q, α) -atom decompositions of f.

Given a weight $w \in A_{\infty}$ and an admissible triplet $(p, q, [Q(q_w/p - 1)])$, a w- $(p, q, [Q(q_w/p - 1)]$ -atom centered at x_0 with respect to w will be a function a satisfying the following three conditions.

(i) There exists a ball $B(x_0, r)$ such that $\operatorname{supp}(a) \subset B(x_0, r)$.

(ii) $\|a\|_{L^q_w(\mathbb{H}^n)} \le w(B(x_0, r))^{\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}}$, if $q < \infty$ or $\|a\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{H}^n)} \le w(B(x_0, r))^{-\frac{1}{p}}$, if $q = \infty$.

 $\begin{array}{l} (\text{iii}) \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} a(x) x^I dx = 0, \text{ for all multi-indices } I = (i_1, i_2, \cdots, i_{2n+1}) \in \mathbb{N}^{2n+1} \text{ with } \\ |I| = \sum_{k=1}^{2n} i_k + 2i_{2n+1} \le [Q(q_w/p - 1)]. \end{array}$

Let $w \in A_{\infty}$ be a weight and let $0 . A tempered distribution <math>f \in \mathcal{S}'$ belongs to $H^p_w(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if f can be written as a series

$$f = \sum_{j} \lambda_j a_j, \tag{2.14}$$

(the sum converging in S'), where each a_j is a w- $(p, q, [Q(q_w/p - 1)])$ -atom and $\sum_j |\lambda_j|^p < \infty$. Moreover, by setting $||f||^p_{H^p_w(\mathbb{H}^n)}$ to be the infimum of the sums over all decompositions (2.14), one obtains the norm for such space.

The local maximal functions are defined by taking supremum over $0 < r \le 1$ instead of $0 < r < \infty$ in (2.12) and (2.13):

$$M_{\Psi}f(x) = \sup_{\substack{|x^{-1}y|_h < r \le 1}} |f * \Psi_r(y)|,$$
$$\widetilde{M}_{(N)}f(x) = \sup_{\Psi \in \mathcal{S}, \|\Psi\|_N \le 1} \widetilde{M}_{\Psi}f(x).$$

Let $0 . The local Hardy space <math>h^p(\mathbb{H}^n)$ is defined by

$$h^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n}) = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{H}^{n}) : \widetilde{M}_{(N_{p})}f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n}) \right\}$$

with

$$||f||_{h^p(\mathbb{H}^n)} = ||M_{(N_p)}f||_{L^p(\mathbb{H}^n)}.$$

In [72], we got the following behavior of Hausdorff operators on power-weighted Hardy spaces and local Hardy spaces

Theorem 2.23. Let Φ be a nonnegative function. Suppose that $A(y) \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ almost everywhere and there exists a constant M independent of y such that $||A^{-1}(y)|| \leq M ||A(y)||^{-1}$.

(i) Let $-Q < \alpha < Q$ and $\alpha \neq 0$. If all entries of the same row of A(y) are nonnegative uniformly or nonpositive uniformly on $y \in \operatorname{supp}(\Phi)$, then $T_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded on $H^1_{|\cdot|^{\alpha}_{\Phi}}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_h^Q} \|A^{-1}(y)\|^{\alpha} \left|\det A^{-1}(y)\right| dy < \infty.$$

(ii) If there exists at least one row of A(y) such that all entries of such row are nonnegative uniformly or nonpositive uniformly on $y \in \operatorname{supp}(\Phi)$, then $T_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded on $H^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{|\Phi(y)|}{|y|_h^Q} \left| \det A^{-1}(y) \right| dy < \infty$$

Theorem 2.24. Let Φ be a nonnegative function. Suppose $A(y) \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ almost everywhere. If there exists a constant M independent of y such that $||A^{-1}(y)|| \leq M||A(y)||^{-1}$, then $T_{\Phi,A}$ is bounded on $h^1(\mathbb{H}^n)$ if and only if

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\|A^{-1}(y)\| < 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left| \det A^{-1}(y) \right| \max \left\{ 1, \ln \left(\|A^{-1}(y)\|^{-1} \right) \right\} dy \\ & + \int_{\|A^{-1}(y)\| \ge 1} \frac{\Phi(y)}{|y|_{h}^{Q}} \left| \det A^{-1}(y) \right| dy \\ < & \infty. \end{split}$$

Let Φ be a locally integrable function on \mathbb{H}^n . The fractional Hausdorff operator on \mathbb{H}^n [70] is defined by

$$T_{\Phi,\beta}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{H}^n} \frac{\Phi(\delta_{|y|_h^{-1}}x)}{|y|_h^{Q-\beta}} f(y) dy, \quad 0 \le \beta \le Q.$$

We shall define two kinds of special Hausdorff operators. If Φ is a Poisson kernel associated to sub-Laplacians on the Heisenberg group, the corresponding Hausdorff operator T_{Φ} , written as $T_{\Phi}^{\mathfrak{p}}$, is called *the Hausdorff-Poisson operator*. It is known that Poisson kernels have the semigroup property:

$$\Phi_s * \Phi_t(x) = \Phi_{s+t}(x),$$

for s, t > 0. If $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{H}^n)$ satisfies another group relation:

$$\Phi_s * \Phi_t(x) = \Phi_{\sqrt{s^2 + t^2}}(x),$$

for s, t > 0, then the corresponding Hausdorff operator, written as $T_{\Phi}^{\mathfrak{g}}$, is called the Hausdorff-Gauss operator.

In [70], we obtained the boundedness of Hausdorff operators on Hardy spaces.

Theorem 2.25. Suppose Φ is radial, $0 \leq \beta < Q$ and

$$\Psi(x) = \frac{\Phi(|x|_h^{-1})}{|x|_h^{Q-\beta}}.$$

Assume $0 , <math>\alpha = Q(1/p - 1)$ and $1/p = 1/q + \beta/Q$. If $\Psi \in \Gamma_{\alpha+\varepsilon} \cap \Gamma_{\alpha-\varepsilon}$ for some sufficiently small ε such that $\alpha - \varepsilon > 0$, then

$$||T_{\Phi,\beta}(f)||_{L^q(\mathbb{H}^n)} \leq ||f||_{H^p(\mathbb{H}^n)},$$

where Γ_{α} is the Lipschitz space of order α (see Section 3).

Theorem 2.26. Let $\frac{Q}{Q+1} . We have$

$$||T^{\mathfrak{p}}_{\Phi}(f)||_{H^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n})} \leq ||f||_{H^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n})}.$$

Theorem 2.27. For all 0 ,

$$||T_{\Phi}^{\mathfrak{g}}(f)||_{H^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n})} \preceq ||f||_{H^{p}(\mathbb{H}^{n})}.$$

3. Oscillatory type integral operators

3.1. One-sided oscillatory integral operators

The study for one-sided operators was motivated by their natural appearance in harmonic analysis; for example, in the study of one-sided Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator [48]

$$M^{+}f(x) = \sup_{h>0} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x}^{x+h} |f(y)| \, dy \quad \& \quad M^{-}f(x) = \sup_{h>0} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x-h}^{x} |f(y)| \, dy$$

arising in the ergodic maximal function. Sawyer introduced the one-sided A_p classes A_p^+ , A_p^- by the following conditions in [48]:

$$A_p^+: \quad A_p^+(w) := \sup_{a < b < c} \frac{1}{(c-a)^p} \int_a^b w(x) \, dx \left(\int_b^c w(x)^{1-p'} \, dx \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

$$A_p^-: \quad A_p^-(w) := \sup_{a < b < c} \frac{1}{(c-a)^p} \int_b^c w(x) \, dx \left(\int_a^b w(x)^{1-p'} \, dx \right)^{p-1} < \infty,$$

when 1 ; also, for <math>p = 1, $A_1^+ : M^- w \le Cw$, $A_1^- : M^+ w \le Cw$ for some constant C.

We say a function K is a one-sided Calderón-Zygmund kernel [26] if K satisfies the condition as that of Calderón-Zygmund kernel and

$$\left| \int_{a < |x| < b} K(x) \, dx \right| \le C, \quad 0 < a < b$$

with support in $\mathbb{R}^- = (-\infty, 0)$ or $\mathbb{R}^+ = (0, +\infty)$.

The one-sided oscillatory integral operator T^+ and T^- were defined in [26] as

$$T^+f(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{x+\varepsilon}^{\infty} e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) f(y) dy = \text{p.v.} \int_x^{\infty} e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) f(y) dy$$

and

$$T^{-}f(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{-\infty}^{x-\varepsilon} e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) f(y) dy = \text{p.v.} \int_{-\infty}^{x} e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) f(y) dy,$$

where P(x, y) is a real polynomial defined on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$, and K are the one-sided Calderón-Zygmund kernel.

We obtained the weak (1,1) boundedness of T^+ in [26] as follows:

Theorem 3.1. If $w \in A_1^+$, then there exists a constant C depending on the total degree of P, C(K) and $A_1^+(w)$ such that

$$\sup_{\lambda>0} \lambda w(\{x \in \mathbb{R} : |T^+f(x)| > \lambda\}) \le C ||f||_{L^1(w)}$$

for $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$.

One-sided BMO spaces were introduced in [44] and defined as

$$BMO^+ := \{ f : f_+^{\sharp} \in L^{\infty}, \| f \|_{BMO^+} = \| f_+^{\sharp} \|_{L^{\infty}} \},\$$

and

$$BMO^{-} := \{ f : f_{-}^{\sharp} \in L^{\infty}, \|f\|_{BMO^{-}} = \|f_{-}^{\sharp}\|_{L^{\infty}} \},\$$

where f_{+}^{\sharp} and f_{-}^{\sharp} were the one-sided sharp maximal function which were defined as

$$f_{+}^{\sharp} = \sup_{h>0} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x}^{x+h} \left(f(y) - \frac{1}{h} \int_{x+h}^{x+2h} f \right)^{+} dy,$$

and

$$f_{-}^{\sharp} = \sup_{h>0} \frac{1}{h} \int_{x-h}^{x} \left(f(y) - \frac{1}{h} \int_{x-2h}^{x-h} f \right)^{+} dy$$

with $z^+ = \max\{z, 0\}$. The commutators formed by T^+ and $b \in BMO^+$ can be defined as follows.

$$T_b^+ f(x) = \text{p.v.} \int_x^\infty e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y)(b(x) - b(y))f(y)dy$$

The high order commutators of $T^+(T^-)$ and $b \in$ for $b \in BMO^+(\mathbb{R})$. $BMO^+(BMO^-)$ are

$$T_b^{k,+}f(x) = \text{p.v.} \int_x^\infty e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) (b(x) - b(y))^k f(y) dy$$

and

$$T_b^{k,-}f(x) = \text{p.v.} \int_{-\infty}^x e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y) \left(b(x) - b(y)\right)^k f(y) dy,$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

In [51,65], we established the boundedness of commutator for $T_b^{k,+}$ and $T_b^{k,-}$ as follows.

Theorem 3.2. Let $1 and <math>\widetilde{T}^+$ be the one-sided Calderón-Zygmund singular operator.

(1) If $w \in A_p^+$ and \widetilde{T}^+ is of type (L^2, L^2) , then T_b^+ is bounded on $L^p(w)$ for every $b \in BMO^+$, where the norm independent on the coefficients of P.

(2) If $w \in A_p^-$ and \widetilde{T}^- is of type (L^2, L^2) , then T_p^- is bounded on $L^p(w)$ for every $b \in BMO^{-}$, where the norm independent on the coefficients of P.

Theorem 3.3. Let $1 and <math>k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

(1) If $w \in A_p^+$ and \tilde{T}^+ is of type (L^2, L^2) , then $T_b^{k,+}$ is bounded on $L^p(w)$ for every $b \in BMO^+$, where the norm independent on the coefficients of P. (2) If $w \in A_p^-$ and \widetilde{T}^- is of type (L^2, L^2) , then $T_b^{k,-}$ is bounded on $L^p(w)$ for

every $b \in BMO^{-}$, where the norm independent on the coefficients of P.

We shall say that f in $\mathcal{S}'(x_{-\infty},\infty)$ belongs to the one-sided Hardy space $H^q_+(w)$ [25] if

$$\|f\|_{H^q_+(w)} = \left(\int_{x_{-\infty}}^{\infty} (M^2_{+,\psi}(x))^q w(x) dx\right)^{1/q} < \infty, \quad 0 < q \le 1$$

and $w \in A_p^+$ $(p \ge 1)$. A function a(x) defined on \mathbb{R} is called a *q*-atom with respect to w(x) if there exists an interval I containing the support of a(x) such that

- (a) $I \subset (x_{-\infty}, \infty)$ and $w(I) < \infty$,
- (b) $||a||_{L^{\infty}} \leq w(I)^{-1/q}$,
- (c) $|I| < dist(x_{-\infty}, I)$, and $\int_I a(x) dx = 0$.

It is easy to check that $H^1_+(w) \subset L^1(w)$. In [25], we proved the following results.

Theorem 3.4. Let P(x) be a polynomial which satisfies P'(0) = 0 and $w \in A_1^+$. Then there exists a constant C > 0, which depends only on $A_1^+(w)$ and the degree of P(x) (not its coefficients), such that

$$||T^+f||_{L^1(w)} \le C||f||_{H^1_+(w)}$$

for all $f \in H^1_+(w)$.

Corollary 3.1. Let P and w be in the above Theorem. Then T^+ is bounded from $L^{\infty}(w)$ into $[H^q_+(w)]^*$, where $[H^q_+(w)]^*$ is the dual space of $H^q_+(w)$

In [25], we also gave a criterion for the weighted L^p -boundednesss of T^+ .

Theorem 3.5. Let P(x,y) be a real polynomial, K be a one-sided Calderón-Zygmund kernel and b(r) be a bounded variation function on $[0, \infty)$. For 1and $w \in A_p^+$, we have

(a) The operator

$$\widetilde{T}^{+,b}f(x) = p.v \int_x^\infty b(y-x)K(x-y)f(y)dy$$

is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$.

(b) The operator

$$T^{+,b}f(x) = p.v \int_x^\infty e^{iP(x,y)} b(y-x)K(x-y)f(y)dy$$

is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$. Here its norm depends only on the total degree of P(x, y)and $A_n^+(w)$, but not on the coefficients of P(x, y).

Furthermore, we have

Theorem 3.6. Let w, p and K be as in the above theorem. Then the following statements are equivalent:

(a) If P(x, y) is a nontrivial polynomial $(P(x, y) \text{ does not take the form } P_0(x) + P_1(y)$, where P_0 and P_1 are polynomials defined on \mathbb{R}), then the operator T^+ is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$.

(b) If P(x,y) satisfies $P(x,y) = P(x-h,y-h) + P_0(x,h) + P_1(y,h)$ with $h \in \mathbb{R}$ and P_0 and P_1 are polynomials defined on \mathbb{R} , then the operator T^+ is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$.

(c) The truncated operator

$$\widetilde{T}_0^+ f(x) = p.v. \int_x^{x+1} K(x-y)f(y)dy$$

is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$.

By the above two theorems, we can easily obtain the following result for the maximal operator corresponding to T^+ :

Theorem 3.7. Let w, p and K be as above. Then the maximal operator

$$T^+_*f(x) = \sup_{\varepsilon > 0} \left| \int_{x+\varepsilon}^{\infty} e^{iP(x,y)} K(x-y)f(y)dy \right|$$

is of type $(L^p(w), L^p(w))$, where its norm depends only on the total degree of P(x, y), but not on the coefficients of P(x, y).

Very recently, the authors [23] further give the characterizations of one-sided Triebel–Lizorkin spaces and the boundedness for commutators. These results complement the missing components in the one-sided singular integral operator and function space theory studied before.

3.2. Fractional Fourier transforms

Theory of the FRFT has been developed on the Schwartz space $S(\mathbb{R})$ and $L^2(\mathbb{R})$, while we focus on the FRFT on $L^1(\mathbb{R})$. On $L^1(\mathbb{R})$, problems of convergence arise when certain manipulations of functions are performed and FRFT inversion is not possible. For $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the fractional Fourier transform of order α of f is (c.f. [8]) defined by

$$(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f)(x) = \begin{cases} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} K_{\alpha}(x,t)f(t) \,\mathrm{d}t, \, \alpha \neq n\pi, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \\ f(x), \quad \alpha = 2n\pi, \\ f(-x), \quad \alpha = (2n+1)\pi, \end{cases}$$

where

$$K_{\alpha}(x,t) = A_{\alpha} \exp\left[2\pi i \left(\frac{t^2}{2} \cot \alpha - xt \csc \alpha + \frac{x^2}{2} \cot \alpha\right)\right]$$

is the kernel of FRFT and

$$A_{\alpha} = \sqrt{1 - i \cot \alpha}.$$

From [8], we can see that \mathcal{F}_{α} is a bounded linear operator from $L^{1}(\mathbb{R})$ to $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. For $f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R})$, $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f$ is uniformly continuous on \mathbb{R} .

Theorem 3.8 (Multiplication formula). For every $f, g \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} (\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f)(x)g(x)\mathrm{d}x = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} f(x)(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}g)(x)\mathrm{d}x.$$

Let $f, g \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$. Define the fractional convolution of order α by

$$\left(f \overset{\alpha}{*} g\right)(x) = e^{-\pi i x^2 \cot \alpha} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} e^{\pi i t^2 \cot \alpha} f(t) g(x-t) dt = \mathcal{M}_{-\alpha} \left(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha} f * g\right)(x).$$

The L^1 dilation of a function ϕ is defined as

$$\phi_{\varepsilon}(x) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \phi\left(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}\right), \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

The following is a fundamental result concerning fractional convolution and approximate identities [8].

Theorem 3.9. Let $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \phi(x) dx = 1$. If $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}), 1 \le p < \infty$, then (i)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \left(f^{\alpha}_{*} \phi_{\varepsilon} \right) - f \right\|_{p} = 0.$$

(ii) if in addition $\psi(x) = \sup_{|t| \ge |x|} |\phi(t)| \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(f^{\alpha}_{*} \phi_{\varepsilon} \right) (x) = f(x), \quad \text{a.e.} \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$

where ψ is the decreasing radial dominant functions of ϕ .

Given $\Phi \in C_0(\mathbb{R})$, $\Phi(0) = 1$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, we define

$$M_{\varepsilon,\Phi_{\alpha}}(f) := \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} (\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f)(x) K_{-\alpha}(x,\cdot) \Phi_{\alpha}(\varepsilon x) \mathrm{d}x,$$

where

$$\Phi_{\alpha}\left(x\right) := \Phi\left(x \csc \alpha\right).$$

The expressions $M_{\varepsilon,\Phi_{\alpha}}(f)$ (with varying ε) are called the Φ_{α} means of the fractional Fourier integral of f.

We now address the FRFT inversion problem [8].

Theorem 3.10. If $\Phi, \varphi := \mathcal{F}\Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \varphi(x) dx = 1$, then (i) the Φ_{α} means of the Fourier integral of f are convergent to f in L^1 norm, that is,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} (\mathcal{F}_{\alpha} f)(x) K_{-\alpha}(\cdot, x) \Phi_{\alpha}(\varepsilon x) \, \mathrm{d}x - f(\cdot) \right\|_{1} = 0.$$

(ii) if in addition $\psi = \sup_{|t| \ge |x|} |\varphi(t)| \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$, then the Φ_{α} means of the Fourier integral of f are a.e. convergent to f, that is,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} (\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f)(x) K_{-\alpha}(t,x) \Phi_{\alpha}(\varepsilon x) \,\mathrm{d}x \to f(t)$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$ for almost all $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 3.11 (Uniqueness of FRFT on $L^1(\mathbb{R})$). If $f_1, f_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f_1)(x) = (\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f_2)(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, then

$$f_1(t) = f_2(t), \quad a.e. \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We have the following result concerning the action of the FRFT on $L^p(\mathbb{R})$.

Theorem 3.12 (Hausdorff-Young inequality). Let 1 , <math>p' = p/(p-1). Then \mathcal{F}_{α} are bounded linear operators from $L^{p}(\mathbb{R})$ to $L^{p'}(\mathbb{R})$. Moreover,

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right\|_{p'} \le A_{\alpha}^{\frac{2}{p}-1} \left\|f\right\|_{p}$$

Let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $m_{\alpha} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. Define the operator $T_{m_{\alpha}}$ as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}\left(T_{m_{\alpha}}f\right)\left(x\right) = m_{\alpha}\left(x\right)\left(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right)\left(x\right), \quad f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}).$$

The function m_{α} is called the L^p Fourier multiplier of order α , if there exist a constant $C_{p,\alpha} > 0$ such that

$$||T_{m_{\alpha}}f||_{p} \leq C_{p,\alpha} ||f||_{p}, \quad f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Fourier multipliers play an important role in operator theory, partial differential equations, and harmonic analysis. We got some basic multiplier theory results in the FRFT setting.

Theorem 3.13. Let m_{α} be a bounded function. If there exists a constant B > 0 such that one of the following conditions hold:

(a) (Mikhlin's condition)

$$\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} m_{\alpha}(x) \right| \le B \left| x \right|^{-1};$$

(b) (Hörmander's condition)

$$\sup_{R>0} \frac{1}{R} \int_{R<|x|<2R} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} m_{\alpha}(x) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}x \le B^2.$$

Then m_{α} is a fractional L^p multiplier for 1 , that is, there exist a constant <math>C > 0 such that

$$\left\|T_{m_{\alpha}}f\right\|_{p} = \left\|\mathcal{F}_{-\alpha}\left[m_{\alpha}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right)\right]\right\|_{p} \leq C\left\|f\right\|_{p}, \quad \forall f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Theorem 3.14 (Bernstein multiplier theorem). Let $m_{\alpha} \in C^1(\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})$ be bounded. If $||m'_{\alpha}|| < \infty$, then there exist constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}_{-\alpha}\left[m_{\alpha}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right)\right]\right\|_{p} \leq C_{1}\left\|f\right\|_{p},$$

for $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R})$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$, and

$$||m_{\alpha}||^{2} \leq C_{2}||m_{\alpha}||_{2}||m_{\alpha}'||_{2}.$$

Theorem 3.15 (Marcinkiewicz multiplier theorem). Let $m_{\alpha} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \cap C^{1}(\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\})$. If there exist a constant B > 0 such that

$$\sup_{I \in \mathcal{I}} \int_{I} \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} m_{\alpha}(x) \right| \mathrm{d}x \le B,$$

where $\mathcal{I} := \{ [2^j, 2^{j+1}], [-2^{j+1}, -2^j] \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is the set of binary intervals in \mathbb{R} , then, for $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}) \ (1 , there exist a constant <math>C > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}_{-\alpha}\left[m_{\alpha}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right)\right]\right\|_{p} \leq C \left\|f\right\|_{p}.$$

The Littlewood-Paley is not only a powerful tool in Fourier analysis, but also plays a very important role in other areas, such as partial differential equations.

Let $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Define the binary intervals in \mathbb{R} as

$$\begin{cases} I_j^{\alpha} := [2^j \sin \alpha, 2^{j+1} \sin \alpha], -I_j^{\alpha} := [-2^{j+1} \sin \alpha, -2^j \sin \alpha], \ \alpha \in (0, \pi), \\ I_j^{\alpha} := [2^{j+1} \sin \alpha, 2^j \sin \alpha], -I_j^{\alpha} := [-2^j \sin \alpha, -2^{j+1} \sin \alpha], \ \alpha \in (\pi, 2\pi). \end{cases}$$

Then those binary intervals internally disjoint and

$$\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\} = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} (-I_j^{\alpha} \cup I_j^{\alpha}).$$

Let $\mathcal{I}_{\alpha} := \{I_{j}^{\alpha}, -I_{j}^{\alpha}\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$. Define the partial summation operator $S_{\rho_{\alpha}}$ corresponding to $\rho_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{I}_{\alpha}$ by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}(S_{\rho_{\alpha}}f)(x) = \chi_{\rho_{\alpha}}(x) \left(\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f\right)(x), \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}),$$

where $\chi_{\rho_{\alpha}}$ denote the characteristic function of the interval ρ_{α} . It is obvious that

$$\sum_{\rho_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{I}_{\alpha}} \|S_{\rho_{\alpha}}(f)\|_{2}^{2} = \|f\|_{2}^{2}, \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}).$$

For general $L^p(\mathbb{R})$ functions, we have the following result, which is the Littlewood-Paley theorem in fractional setting.

Theorem 3.16. Let $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R})$, 1 . Then

$$\left(\sum_{\rho_{\alpha}\in\mathcal{I}_{\alpha}}|S_{\rho_{\alpha}}(f)|^{2}\right)^{1/2}\in L^{p}(\mathbb{R})$$

and there exists constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ independent of f such that

$$C_1 \left\| f \right\|_p \le \left\| \left(\sum_{\rho_\alpha \in \mathcal{I}_\alpha} \left| S_{\rho_\alpha}(f) \right|^2 \right)^{1/2} \right\|_p \le C_2 \left\| f \right\|_p$$

For $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the *n*d-FRFT of f with order $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}f(\boldsymbol{z}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K_{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{z}) f(\boldsymbol{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x},$$

where $K_{\alpha}(x, z) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} K_{\alpha_j}(x_j, z_j)$ and here for each $j = 1, 2, \dots, n, K_{\alpha_j}(x_j, z_j)$ is defined as follows

$$K_{\alpha_j}(x_j, z_j) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{1 - i \cot \alpha_j} \ e^{i\pi \cot \alpha_j [x_j^2 + z_j^2 - 2x_j z_j \sec \alpha_j]}, \ \alpha_j \notin \pi \mathbb{Z}, \\\\ \delta(x_j - z_j), & \alpha_j \in 2\pi \mathbb{Z}, \\\\ \delta(x_j + z_j), & \alpha_j \in 2\pi \mathbb{Z} + \pi, \end{cases}$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)$.

The multidimensional fractional convolution of order α can be defined as

$$(f \overset{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}{*} g)(\boldsymbol{x}) = e_{-\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{x}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\boldsymbol{z}) f(\boldsymbol{z}) g(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{z}) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{z}$$

for $f, g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We establish the following two approximation theorems in [82]. Theorem 3.17 is about approximation in L^p norm and Theorem 3.18 is about almost everywhere approximation.

Theorem 3.17. Let $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \le p < \infty$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x} = 1$. Then

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \left\| \left(f \stackrel{\alpha}{*} \phi_y \right) - f \right\|_p = 0$$

where $\phi_y := \frac{1}{y^n} \phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{y}\right)$.

Theorem 3.18. Let $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(\mathbf{x}) d\mathbf{x} = 1$. Denote by $\psi(\mathbf{z}) = \sup_{|\mathbf{x}| \geq \mathbf{z}} |\phi(\mathbf{x})|$ the decreasing radial dominant function of ϕ . If $\psi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then for almost all $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \left(f^{\alpha}_{*} \phi_{y} \right) (\boldsymbol{z}) = f(\boldsymbol{z}),$$

where $\phi_y := \frac{1}{y^n} \phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{y}\right)$.

The uncertainty principle is a principle of physics introduced by Heisenberg in 1927. It points out that it is impossible to determine precisely the position and momentum of a microscopic particle simultaneously. It is one of the fundamental results in quantum mechanics. The uncertainty principle is expressed mathematically as the Heisenberg inequality. In [82], we also obtained the general Heisenberg inequality.

Theorem 3.19 (General Heisenberg inequality). Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n)$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For any $\boldsymbol{y} = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)$, $\boldsymbol{v} = (v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, if $\alpha_1 - \beta_1 = \alpha_2 - \beta_2 = \dots = \alpha_n - \beta_n$, then

$$\begin{split} & \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \boldsymbol{x} - \widetilde{\boldsymbol{y}} \right|^2 \left| \left(\mathcal{F}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} f \right) (\boldsymbol{x}) \right|^2 \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{x} \right] \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \boldsymbol{z} - \widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \right|^2 \left| \left(\mathcal{F}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}} f \right) (\boldsymbol{z}) \right|^2 \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{z} \right] \\ & \geq \frac{n^2 \|f\|_2^4}{16\pi^2} \sin^2(\alpha_1 - \beta_1), \end{split}$$

where

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{y}} = (y_1 \sin \alpha_1 + v_1 \cos \alpha_1, y_2 \sin \alpha_2 + v_2 \cos \alpha_2, \dots, y_n \sin \alpha_n + v_n \cos \alpha_n),\\ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}} = (y_1 \sin \beta_1 + v_1 \cos \beta_1, y_2 \sin \beta_2 + v_2 \cos \beta_2, \dots, y_n \sin \beta_n + v_n \cos \beta_n).$$

3.3. Linear canonical transforms

The linear canonical transform (LCT) was proposed by Collins and Moshinsky– Quesne almost simultaneously in the early 1970s. Since LCT has more free parameters than the classical Fourier transform (FT) and the fractional Fourier transform (FRFT), it has become an important tool for time-frequency analysis, especially for non-stationary signals or time-varying signals, and is widely used in many fields such as radar, sonar, communication, information security, digital watermarking, etc.

Let's review the definition of 1D-LCT. Denote by $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ the set of all 2×2 real matrices of determinant 1. For any matrix $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$, the 1D-LCT

is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{A}f\left(x\right) = \begin{cases} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} K_{A}\left(x,t\right) f\left(t\right) \mathrm{d}t, \ b \neq 0, \\ \sqrt{d}e^{i\frac{cd}{2}x^{2}}f\left(dx\right), \qquad b = 0, \end{cases}$$

where

$$\begin{split} K_A\left(x,t\right) &= C_A e_{b,d}(x) e_{b,a}(t) e_b(x,t),\\ C_A &= \sqrt{\frac{1}{i2\pi b}}, \ e_{b,d}(x) = e^{i\frac{d}{2b}x^2}, \ e_{b,a}(x) = e^{i\frac{a}{2b}t^2}, \ e_b(x,t) = e^{-\frac{i}{b}xt}. \end{split}$$

For any matrix $A_j = \begin{pmatrix} a_j & b_j \\ c_j & d_j \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2,\mathbb{R}), b_j \neq 0, j = 1, 2, \boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, u_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$

the 2D-LCT [81] is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{A}f(\boldsymbol{u}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} K_{A}(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{x}) f(\boldsymbol{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x},$$

where

$$\begin{split} K_{\boldsymbol{A}}\left(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{x}\right) &= K_{A_{1}}\left(u_{1},x_{1}\right)K_{A_{2}}\left(u_{2},x_{2}\right) = C_{\boldsymbol{A}}e_{\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{d}}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right)e_{\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{a}}\left(\boldsymbol{x}\right)e_{\boldsymbol{b}}\left(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{x}\right),\\ C_{\boldsymbol{A}} &= C_{A_{1}}C_{A_{2}}, \ \boldsymbol{A} &= \left(A_{1},A_{2}\right),\\ e_{\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{d}}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) &= e_{b_{1},d_{1}}\left(u_{1}\right)e_{b_{2},d_{2}}\left(u_{2}\right) = e^{i\left(\frac{d_{1}}{2b_{1}}u_{1}^{2}+\frac{d_{2}}{2b_{2}}u_{2}^{2}\right)},\\ e_{\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{a}}\left(\boldsymbol{x}\right) &= e_{b_{1},a_{1}}\left(x_{1}\right)e_{b_{2},a_{2}}\left(x_{2}\right) = e^{i\left(\frac{a_{1}}{2b_{1}}x_{1}^{2}+\frac{a_{2}}{2b_{2}}x_{2}^{2}\right)},\\ e_{\boldsymbol{b}}\left(\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{x}\right) &= e_{b_{1}}\left(u_{1},x_{1}\right)e_{b_{2}}\left(u_{2},x_{2}\right) = e^{-i\left(\frac{u_{1}x_{1}}{b_{1}}+\frac{u_{2}x_{2}}{b_{2}}\right)}. \end{split}$$

In [81], we obtained that

Theorem 3.20 (General Multiplication formula). Let

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{A} &= (A_1, A_2) , \ \boldsymbol{A}' &= (A'_1, \ A'_2) , \\ A_j &= \begin{pmatrix} a_j \ b_j \\ c_j \ d_j \end{pmatrix} \in SL\left(2, \mathbb{R}\right), \ A'_j &= \begin{pmatrix} d_j \ b_j \\ c_j \ a_j \end{pmatrix} \in SL\left(2, \mathbb{R}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where j = 1, 2. For every $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left[\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}} f\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) \right] g\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{u} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} f\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) \left[\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}'} g\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) \right] \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{u}.$$

Theorem 3.21 (General Heisenberg inequality). Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and

$$A_j^k = \begin{pmatrix} a_j^k & b_j^k \\ c_j^k & d_j^k \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{R}), \ j, k = 1, 2.$$

For any $\mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2), \mathbf{v} = (v_1, v_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, if $A_1^1 \left(A_2^1 \right)^* = A_1^2 \left(A_2^2 \right)^*$ then

$$\begin{split} & \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \boldsymbol{x} - \widetilde{\boldsymbol{y}} \right|^2 \left| \left(\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A_1}} f \right) (\boldsymbol{x}) \right|^2 \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{x} \right] \times \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left| \boldsymbol{u} - \widetilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \right|^2 \left| \left(\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A_2}} f \right) (\boldsymbol{u}) \right|^2 \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{u} \right] \\ & \geq \left| a_1^1 c_2^1 - b_1^1 d_2^1 \right|^2 \| f \|_2^4, \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{A_1} &= \left(A_1^1, A_1^2\right), \ \boldsymbol{A_2} &= \left(A_2^1, A_2^2\right), \\ \boldsymbol{\widetilde{y}} &= \left(y_1 b_1^1 + v_1 a_1^1, y_2 b_1^2 + v_2 a_1^2\right), \\ \boldsymbol{\widetilde{v}} &= \left(y_1 b_2^1 + v_1 a_2^1, y_2 b_2^2 + v_2 a_2^2\right). \end{aligned}$$

For $f, g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$, we define the convolution $\stackrel{\pmb{A}}{*}$ by

$$\left(f \stackrel{\mathbf{A}}{*} g\right)(\boldsymbol{u}) = e_{-\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{a}}(\boldsymbol{u}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e_{\boldsymbol{b},\boldsymbol{a}}(\boldsymbol{x}) f(\boldsymbol{x}) g(\boldsymbol{u}-\boldsymbol{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}.$$

For $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\phi_{\varepsilon}(\boldsymbol{u}) := \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \phi\left(\frac{\boldsymbol{u}}{\varepsilon}\right)$.

Theorem 3.22. Let $\phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \phi(u) du = 1$. If $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2), 1 \leq p < \infty$, then

(i)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| \left(f \stackrel{\mathbf{A}}{*} \phi_{\varepsilon} \right) - f \right\|_{p} = 0.$$

(ii) If in addition the decreasing radial dominant functions $\psi(\boldsymbol{u}) = \sup_{|\boldsymbol{x}| \ge |\boldsymbol{u}|} |\phi(\boldsymbol{x})| \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2), 1 \le p < \infty$, then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(f \stackrel{\boldsymbol{A}}{*} \phi_{\varepsilon} \right) (\boldsymbol{u}) = f(\boldsymbol{u}), \quad \text{a.e.} \quad \boldsymbol{u} \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Let $\Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\Phi(0,0) = 1$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$, the Φ_b means of the linear canonical integral with respect to A of f is defined by

$$M_{\varepsilon,\Phi_{\boldsymbol{b}}}\left(f\right)\left(\boldsymbol{x}\right) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}} f\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) K_{\boldsymbol{A}^{*}}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{u}\right) \Phi_{\boldsymbol{b}}\left(\varepsilon\boldsymbol{u}\right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{u},$$

where

$$\Phi_{\boldsymbol{b}}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right) := \Phi\left(\boldsymbol{u}_{\boldsymbol{b}}\right)$$

Theorem 3.23. Let $\Phi, \varphi := \mathcal{F}\Phi \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \varphi(\mathbf{x}) d\mathbf{x} = 1$ and $\psi(\mathbf{u}) = \sup_{|\mathbf{x}| \ge |\mathbf{u}|} |\varphi(\mathbf{x})| \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Then

(i) $\Phi_{\mathbf{b}}$ means of the linear canonical integral of f are convergent to f in the sense of L^1 norm:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\| M_{\varepsilon, \Phi_{\mathbf{b}}} \left(f \right) - f \right\|_{1} = 0,$$

(ii) $\Phi_{\mathbf{b}}$ means of the linear canonical integral of f are convergent to f almost everywhere, i.e.,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} M_{\varepsilon, \Phi_{\boldsymbol{b}}}(f)(\boldsymbol{x}) = f(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad \text{a.e. } \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

From Theorem 3.23, we deduce the following conclusion.

Corollary 3.2. Suppose $f, \mathcal{L}_{A}f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$. Then

$$f(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}} f(\boldsymbol{u}) K_{\boldsymbol{A}^*}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{u}) \, \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{u}, \quad \mathrm{a.e.} \; \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

Corollary 3.3. For $f_1, f_2, \mathcal{L}_A f_1, \mathcal{L}_A f_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$ with

$$\mathcal{L}_{A}f_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right)=\mathcal{L}_{A}f_{2}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right),\quad\boldsymbol{u}\in\mathbb{R}^{2},$$

we have

$$f_1(\boldsymbol{x}) = f_2(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad a.e. \ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

The LCT also has the following boundedness result as FRFT.

Theorem 3.24 (Hausdorff-Young inequality). For 1 , <math>p' = p/(p-1), we have that $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{A}}$ is a bounded linear operator from $L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)$ to $L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Moreover,

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{A}f\|_{p'} = C_{A}^{\frac{2}{p}-1} \|f\|_{p}$$

For $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $m_{\mathbf{A}} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. The operator $T_{m_{\mathbf{A}}}$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}\left(T_{m_{\boldsymbol{A}}}f\right)(\boldsymbol{x}) = m_{\boldsymbol{A}}\left(\boldsymbol{x}\right)\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}f\left(\boldsymbol{x}\right), \quad f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2}).$$

If there exists a constant $C_{p,A} > 0$ satisfying

$$||T_{m_{A}}f||_{p} \leq C_{p,A} ||f||_{p}, \quad f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2}),$$

then $m_{\mathbf{A}}$ is called the L^p linear canonical multiplier.

Theorem 3.25. Let $m_A \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. If there exists a constant B > 0 satisfying one of the following conditions:

1. (Mikhlin's condition)

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial u_{1}\partial u_{2}}m_{\boldsymbol{A}}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right)\right|\leq B\left|\boldsymbol{u}\right|^{-2};$$

2. (Hörmander's condition)

$$\sup_{R>0} \frac{1}{R} \int_{R<|\boldsymbol{u}|<2R} \left| \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_1 \partial u_2} m_{\boldsymbol{A}}(\boldsymbol{u}) \right|^2 \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{u} \leq B.$$

Then there exists C > 0 satisfying

$$\|T_{m_{\boldsymbol{A}}}f\|_{p} = \|\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}^{*}}(m_{\boldsymbol{A}}\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}f)\|_{p} \leq C \|f\|_{p}, \quad f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2}).$$

Corollary 3.4. Assume that $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)$ $(1 and <math>m_A \in L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^2) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\})$.

(i) (Bernstein-type multiplier theorem) If $||m'_{A}||_{2} < \infty$, then there exists C > 0 satisfying

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{A^*}(m_{A}\mathcal{L}_{A}f)\|_{p} \leq C \|m_{A}\|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|m'_{A}\|_{2}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|f\|_{p}.$$

(ii) (Marcinkiewicz-type multiplier theorem) If there exists B > 0 satisfying

$$\sup_{I \in \Delta} \int_{I} \left| \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{1} \partial x_{2}} m_{\boldsymbol{A}} \left(\boldsymbol{x} \right) \right| \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{x} \leq B,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Delta &= \mathcal{I} \times \mathcal{I}, \\ \mathcal{I} &= \left\{ [2^j, 2^{j+1}], [-2^{j+1}, -2^j] \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \end{split}$$

is the set of dyadic rectangles in \mathbb{R}^2 , then there exists C > 0 satisfying

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}^{*}}\left(m_{\boldsymbol{A}}\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}f\right)\right\|_{p} \leq C\left\|f\right\|_{p}$$

We define the partial summation operator $S_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{b}}}$ associated with $\rho_{\boldsymbol{b}} \in \Delta$ as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}\left(S_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{b}}}f\right)(\boldsymbol{u}) = \chi_{\rho_{\boldsymbol{b}}}\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right)\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{A}}f\left(\boldsymbol{u}\right), \quad f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}) \cap L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2}),$$

where χ_{ρ_b} is the characteristic function of ρ_b . It is simple to show that

$$\sum_{\rho_{\mathbf{b}}\in\Delta}\left\|S_{\rho_{\mathbf{b}}}\left(f\right)\right\|_{2}^{2}=\left\|f\right\|_{2}^{2},\quad\forall f\in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}).$$

Theorem 3.26. For $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)$, 1 , we have

$$\left[\sum_{\rho_{\mathbf{b}}\in\Delta}\left|S_{\rho_{\mathbf{b}}}\left(f\right)\right|^{2}\right]^{1/2}\in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2})$$

and there exist $C_1, C_2 > 0$ satisfying

$$C_{1} \|f\|_{p} \leq \left\| \left[\sum_{\rho_{b} \in \Delta} |S_{\rho_{b}}(f)|^{2} \right]^{1/2} \right\|_{p} \leq C_{2} \|f\|_{p}.$$

4. Singular integral operators

4.1. Riesz type operators

Recall that a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group \mathcal{G} is said to be stratified if its left-invariant Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} (assumed real and of finite dimension) admits a direct sum decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{s} V_i, \quad [V_1, V_i] = V_{i+1}, \text{ for } i \le s-1 \text{ and } [V_1, V_s] = 0.$$

s is called the step of the group \mathcal{G} .

There is a natural family of dilations on \mathfrak{g} defined for r > 0 as follows:

$$\delta_r \left(\sum_{i=1}^s v_i \right) = \sum_{i=1}^s r^i v_i, \quad \text{with } v_i \in V_i.$$

This allows the definition of dilation on \mathcal{G} , which we still denote by δ_r . We fix once and for all a (bi-invariant) Haar measure dx on \mathcal{G} (which is just the lift of Lebesgue measure on \mathfrak{g} via exp).

Denote by the sub-Laplacian $\Delta = \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}^{2}$, where $\{X_{1}, \dots, X_{n}\}$ is the basis of V_{1} . Let Q denote the homogeneous dimension of \mathcal{G} , namely, $Q = \sum_{i=1}^{s} i \operatorname{dim} V_{i}$. And let p_{h} (h > 0) be the heat kernel (that is, the integral kernel of $e^{h\Delta}$) on \mathcal{G} .

The kernel of the jth Riesz transform $X_j(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ $(1 \le j \le n)$ is written simply as $K_j(g,g') = K_j(g'^{-1} \circ g)$. It is known that (c.f. [7,18])

$$K_j \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G} \setminus \{0\}), \ K_j(\delta_r(g)) = r^{-Q}K_j(g), \quad \forall g \neq 0, \ r > 0, \ 1 \le j \le n.$$

Let ρ be the homogeneous norm on \mathcal{G} , which induces a quasi-distance

$$\rho(g,g')=\rho(g'^{-1}\circ g)=\rho(g^{-1}\circ g'),\quad \forall g,g'\in\mathcal{G}.$$

The bounded mean oscillation space BMO(\mathcal{G}) [7] is defined to be the space of all locally integrable functions f on \mathcal{G} such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BMO}(\mathcal{G})} := \sup_{B \subset \mathcal{G}} M(f, B) := \sup_{B \subset \mathcal{G}} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(g) - f_B| \, dg < \infty,$$

where $f_B = \frac{1}{|B|} \int_B f(g) dg$.

We define $VMO(\mathcal{G})$ as the closure of the C_0^{∞} functions on \mathcal{G} under the norm of the BMO space.

Let $1 , a weight w is said to be of class <math>A_p(\mathcal{G})$ if

$$[w]_{A_p} := \sup_{B \subset \mathcal{G}} \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B w(g) dg \right) \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B w(g)^{-1/(p-1)} dg \right)^{p-1} < \infty.$$

A weight w is said to be of class $A_1(\mathcal{G})$ if there exists a constant C such that for all balls $B \subset \mathcal{G}$,

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B w(g) dg \le C \operatorname{essinf}_{x \in B} w(g).$$

For $p = \infty$, we define

$$A_{\infty}(\mathcal{G}) = \bigcup_{1 \le p < \infty} A_p(\mathcal{G}).$$

In [7], we obtained the following lower bound of the Riesz transform kernel and the characterization of the compactness of Riesz transform commutator.

Theorem 4.1. Suppose that \mathcal{G} is a stratified Lie group with homogeneous dimension Q and that $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$. There exist a large positive constant r_o and a positive constant C such that for every $g \in \mathcal{G}$ there exists a "twisted truncated sector" $G_q \subset \mathcal{G}$ satisfying that $\inf_{g' \in G_g} \rho(g,g') = r_o$ and that for every $g_1 \in B_{\rho}(g,1)$ and $g_2 \in G_g$, we have

$$|K_j(g_1, g_2)| \ge C\rho(g_1, g_2)^{-Q}, \quad |K_j(g_2, g_1)| \ge C\rho(g_1, g_2)^{-Q},$$

and all $K_j(g_1, g_2)$ as well as all $K_j(g_2, g_1)$ have the same sign.

Moreover, this "twisted truncated sector" G_g is regular, in the sense that $|G_g| =$ ∞ and that for any $R_2 > R_1 > 2r_o$,

$$\left| \left(B_{\rho}(g, R_2) \setminus B_{\rho}(g, R_1) \right) \cap G_g \right| \approx \left| B_{\rho}(g, R_2) \setminus B_{\rho}(g, R_1) \right|,$$

where the implicit constants are independent of g and R_1, R_2 .

Theorem 4.2. Let $1 , <math>w \in A_p(\mathcal{G})$, $b \in L^1_{loc}(\mathcal{G})$. Then $b \in VMO(\mathcal{G})$ if and only if for some $\ell \in \{1, \dots, n\}$, Riesz transform commutator $[b, \mathcal{R}_{\ell}]$ is compact on $L^p_w(\mathcal{G}).$

4.2. Cauchy type operators

4.2.1. Cauchy integrals and Cauchy–Leray integral

Recently, Lanzani and Stein [40] studied the Cauchy–Szegő projection operator on a bounded strongly pseudoconvex domain D in \mathbb{C}^n whose boundary bD satisfies the minimum regularity condition of class C^2 . The measure that they used on the boundary bD is the Leray-Levi measure $d\lambda$. They obtained the $L^p(bD)$ boundedness $(1 of a family of Cauchy integrals <math>\{\mathcal{C}_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon}$. Since the role of the parameter ϵ is of no consequence here, when denoting a member in this family we will simply write C. Here the space $L^p(bD)$ is defined with respect to $d\lambda$. We point out that the kernel of these Cauchy integral operators does not satisfy the standard size or smoothness conditions for Calderón–Zygmund operators. To obtain the $L^p(bD)$ boundedness, they decomposed the Cauchy transform \mathcal{C} , which is the restriction of such a Cauchy integral on bD into the essential part \mathcal{C}^{\sharp} and the remainder \mathcal{R} , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}^{\sharp} + \mathcal{R},$$

where the kernel of \mathcal{C}^{\sharp} , denoted by $C^{\sharp}(w, z)$, satisfies the standard size and smoothness conditions for Calderón–Zygmund operators, i.e. there exists a positive constant A_1 such that for every $w, z \in bD$ with $w \neq z$,

$$\begin{cases} a) & |C^{\sharp}(w,z)| \leq A_1 \frac{1}{\mathsf{d}(w,z)^{2n}}; \\ b) & |C^{\sharp}(w,z) - C^{\sharp}(w',z)| \leq A_1 \frac{\mathsf{d}(w,w')}{\mathsf{d}(w,z)^{2n+1}}, & \text{if } \mathsf{d}(w,z) \geq c \mathsf{d}(w,w'); \\ c) & |C^{\sharp}(w,z) - C^{\sharp}(w,z')| \leq A_1 \frac{\mathsf{d}(z,z')}{\mathsf{d}(w,z)^{2n+1}}, & \text{if } \mathsf{d}(w,z) \geq c \mathsf{d}(z,z') \end{cases}$$

for an appropriate constant c > 0 and where d(z, w) is a quasi-distance suitably adapted to D. However, the kernel R(w, z) of \mathcal{R} satisfies a size condition and a smoothness condition for only one of the variables as follows: there exists a positive constant C_R such that for every $w, z \in bD$ with $w \neq z$,

$$\begin{cases} d) & |R(w,z)| \le C_R \frac{1}{\mathsf{d}(w,z)^{2n-1}}; \\ e) & |R(w,z) - R(w,z')| \le C_R \frac{\mathsf{d}(z,z')}{\mathsf{d}(w,z)^{2n}}, & \text{if } \mathsf{d}(w,z) \ge c_R \mathsf{d}(z,z') \end{cases}$$

for an appropriate large constant c_R .

In [17], we obtained the following characterization of the commutator of Cauchy transform \mathcal{C} .

Theorem 4.3. Suppose $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \geq 2$, is a bounded domain whose boundary is of class C^2 and is strongly pseudoconvex. Suppose $b \in L^1(bD, d\lambda)$. Then for 1 ,

(1) $b \in BMO(bD, d\lambda)$ if and only if the commutator $[b, \mathcal{C}]$ is bounded on $L^p(bD, d\lambda)$.

(2) $b \in \text{VMO}(bD, d\lambda)$ if and only if the commutator $[b, \mathcal{C}]$ is compact on $L^p(bD, d\lambda)$.

We also considered the Cauchy-Leray integral in the setting of Lanzani–Stein [41], where they studied such integral in a bounded domain D in \mathbb{C}^n which is strongly \mathbb{C} -linearly convex and the boundary bD satisfies the minimum regularity $C^{1,1}$. The Cauchy-Leray transform of a suitable function f on bD, denoted $\mathcal{C}(f)$, is formally defined by

$$\mathcal{C}(f)(z) = \int_{bD} \frac{f(w)}{\Delta(w,z)^n} d\lambda(w), \quad z \in bD,$$

where $\Delta(w, z) = \langle \partial \rho(w), w - z \rangle$, ρ is the defining function of D. In [41], they obtained the $L^p(bD)$ boundedness (1 of <math>C by showing that the kernel K(w, z) of C satisfies the standard conditions of Calderón–Zygmund operators. Following a similar approach as in the proof for Theorem 4.3, we arrived at the following result on the commutator of the Cauchy–Leray transform.

Theorem 4.4. Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n of class $C^{1,1}$ that is strongly \mathbb{C} -linearly convex and let $b \in L^1(bD, d\lambda)$. Let C be the Cauchy–Leray transform. Then for 1 ,

(1) $b \in BMO(bD, d\lambda)$ if and only if the commutator [b, C] is bounded on $L^p(bD, d\lambda)$.

(2) $b \in \text{VMO}(bD, d\lambda)$ if and only if the commutator [b, C] is compact on $L^p(bD, d\lambda)$.

In [31], we also characterized the boundedness and compactness of the commutator of Cauchy type integral \mathcal{C} on the weighted Morrey space $L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD), p \in (1,\infty), \kappa \in (0,1)$ and $v \in A_p(bD)$, which is defined by

$$L_{v}^{p,\kappa}(bD) := \left\{ f \in L_{loc}^{p}(bD) : \|f\|_{L_{v}^{p,\kappa}(bD)} < \infty \right\}$$

with

$$\|f\|_{L^{p,\kappa}_{v}(bD)} := \sup_{B} \left\{ \frac{1}{[v(B)]^{\kappa}} \int_{B} |f(z)|^{p} v(z) \, d\lambda(z) \right\}^{1/p},$$

here

$$v(B) = \int_B v(z) d\lambda(z).$$

Theorem 4.5. Suppose $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n$, $n \geq 2$, is a bounded domain whose boundary is of class C^2 and is strongly pseudoconvex. Suppose $b \in L^1(bD)$, $1 , <math>0 < \kappa < 1$ and $v \in A_p$. Then,

- (1) $b \in BMO(bD)$ if and only if the commutator $[b, \mathcal{C}]$ is bounded on $L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD)$.
- (2) $b \in \text{VMO}(bD)$ if and only if the commutator $[b, \mathcal{C}]$ is compact on $L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD)$.

Again following a similar approach as in the proof of Theorem 4.3, we obtained the following results on the Cauchy–Leray transform and its commutator.

Theorem 4.6. Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n of class $C^{1,1}$ that is strongly \mathbb{C} -linearly convex. Let 1 . Then there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\|\mathcal{C}(f)\|_{L^{p}_{v}(bD)} \leq C \|f\|_{L^{p}_{v}(bD)}$$

holds for every function $f \in L^p_v(bD)$.

Theorem 4.7. Let D be a bounded domain in \mathbb{C}^n of class $C^{1,1}$ that is strongly \mathbb{C} -linearly convex and let $b \in L^1(bD), 1 and <math>v \in A_p$. Let \mathcal{C} be the Cauchy-Leray transform (as in [41]). Then for 1 ,

(1) $b \in BMO(bD)$ if and only if the commutator [b, C] is bounded on $L^{p,\kappa}_v(bD)$.

(2) $b \in \text{VMO}(bD)$ if and only if the commutator $[b, \mathcal{C}]$ is compact on $L_v^{p,\kappa}(bD)$.

4.2.2. Cauchy-Szegő projection operators

Recall that the space \mathbf{H} of quaternion numbers forms a division algebra with respect to the coordinate addition and the quaternion multiplication

$$\begin{aligned} xx' &= (x_1 + x_2\mathbf{i} + x_3\mathbf{j} + x_4\mathbf{k})(x_1' + x_2'\mathbf{i} + x_3'\mathbf{j} + x_4'\mathbf{k}) \\ &= x_1x_1' - x_2x_2' - x_3x_3' - x_4x_4' + (x_1x_2' + x_2x_1' + x_3x_4' - x_4x_3')\mathbf{i} \\ &+ (x_1x_3' - x_2x_4' + x_3x_1' + x_4x_2')\mathbf{j} + (x_1x_4' + x_2x_3' - x_3x_2' + x_4x_1')\mathbf{k}, \end{aligned}$$

for any $x = x_1 + x_2 \mathbf{i} + x_3 \mathbf{j} + x_4 \mathbf{k}$, $x' = x'_1 + x'_2 \mathbf{i} + x'_3 \mathbf{j} + x'_4 \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{H}$. The conjugate \bar{x} is defined by

$$\bar{x} = x_1 - x_2 \mathbf{i} - x_3 \mathbf{j} - x_4 \mathbf{k},$$

and the modulus |x| is defined by $|x|^2 = x\bar{x} = \sum_{j=1}^4 x_j^2$. The conjugation inverses the product of quaternion number in the following sense $\bar{q}\bar{\sigma} = \bar{\sigma}\bar{q}$ for any $q, \sigma \in \mathbf{H}$. It is clear that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Im}(\bar{x}x') &= \operatorname{Im}\{(x_1 - x_2\mathbf{i} - x_3\mathbf{j} - x_4\mathbf{k})(x_1' + x_2'\mathbf{i} + x_3'\mathbf{j} + x_4'\mathbf{k})\} \\ &= (x_1x_2' - x_2x_1' - x_3x_4' + x_4x_3')\mathbf{i} + (x_1x_3' + x_2x_4' - x_3x_1' - x_4x_2')\mathbf{j} \\ &+ (x_1x_4' - x_2x_3' + x_3x_2' - x_4x_1')\mathbf{k} \end{aligned}$$
$$&=: \sum_{\alpha=1}^3 \sum_{k,j=1}^4 b_{kj}^{\alpha} x_k x_j' \mathbf{i}_{\alpha}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathbf{i}_1 = \mathbf{i}, \mathbf{i}_2 = \mathbf{j}, \mathbf{i}_3 = \mathbf{k}$, and b_{kj}^{α} is the (k, j)-th entry of the following matrices b^{α} :

$$b^{1} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b^{2} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b^{3} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The Siegel upper half space

$$\mathcal{U}_n := \left\{ q = (q_1, \cdots, q_n) = (q_1, q') \in \mathbf{H}^n \mid \operatorname{Re} q_1 > |q'|^2 \right\},\$$

where $q' = (q_2, \dots, q_n) \in \mathbf{H}^{n-1}$, whose boundary $\partial \mathcal{U}_n := \{(q_1, q') \in \mathbf{H}^n \mid \operatorname{Re} q_1 = |q'|^2\}$ is a quadratic hypersurface and can be identified with the quaternionic Heisenberg group \mathcal{H}^{n-1} , which is $\operatorname{Im} \mathbf{H} \times \mathbf{H}^{n-1}$ endowed with the non-commutative multiplication

$$(t, y) \cdot (t', y') = (t + t' + 2 \operatorname{Im}\langle y, y' \rangle, y + y'),$$

where $t = t_1 \mathbf{i} + t_2 \mathbf{j} + t_3 \mathbf{k}$, $t' = t'_1 \mathbf{i} + t'_2 \mathbf{j} + t'_3 \mathbf{k} \in \text{Im } \mathbf{H}$, $y, y' \in \mathbf{H}^{n-1}$, and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the inner product defined by

$$\langle y, y' \rangle = \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} \overline{y}_l y'_l, \quad y = (y_1, \cdots, y_{n-1}), \quad y' = (y'_1, \cdots, y'_{n-1}) \in \mathbf{H}^{n-1}.$$

The Cauchy–Szegő projection operator \mathcal{P} can be defined via the "vertical translate" from Cauchy–Szegő kernel for \mathcal{U}_n by

$$(\mathcal{P}f)(q) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial \mathcal{U}_n} S(q + \varepsilon \mathbf{e}, p) f(p) d\beta(p), \quad \forall f \in L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}_n), \quad q \in \partial \mathcal{U}_n,$$

where $\mathbf{e} = (1, 0, 0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{H}^n$, the limit exists in the $L^2(\partial \mathcal{U}_n)$ norm and $\mathcal{P}(f)$ is the boundary limit of some function in holomorphic Hardy space $H^2(\mathcal{U}_n)$ (c.f. [4,6]). In view of the action of the quaternionic Heisenberg group, the operator \mathcal{P} can be explicitly described as a convolution operator on this group:

$$(\mathcal{P}f)(g) = (f * K)(g) = p.v. \int_{\mathcal{H}^{n-1}} K(h^{-1} \cdot g)f(h)dh,$$

where the kernel K(g) is the corresponding Cauchy–Szegő kernel on \mathcal{H}^{n-1} . We can write

$$(\mathcal{P}f)(g) = p.v. \int_{\mathcal{H}^{n-1}} K(g,h)f(h)dh, \qquad (4.1)$$

where $K(g,h) = K(h^{-1} \cdot g)$ for $g \neq h$. Note that (4.1) holds whenever f is an L^2 function supported in a compact set, for ever g outside the support of f.

Based on [6], in [4], we obtained the explicit formula of Cauchy–Szegő kernel for the quaternionic Siegel upper half-space \mathcal{U}_n .

Theorem 4.8. The explicit formula of Cauchy–Szegő kernel for the quaternionic Siegel upper half-space U_n is given by

$$S(q,p) = s\left(q_1 + \overline{p}_1 - 2\sum_{k=2}^n \overline{p}_k q_k\right),$$

for $p = (p_1, p') = (p_1, \cdots, p_n) \in \mathcal{U}_n, q = (q_1, q') = (q_1, \cdots, q_n) \in \mathcal{U}_n, where$

$$s(\sigma) = c_{n-1} \frac{4(2n-2)!}{|z|^4(z-\bar{z})^3} \mathbf{i}$$

$$\times \left\{ \operatorname{Im} \left[\frac{\bar{z}^2}{z^{2n-2}} \left(z + (2n-1)\frac{z-\bar{z}}{2} \right) \right] \overline{\sigma} - \operatorname{Im} \left[\frac{\bar{z}^2}{z^{2n-3}} \left(z + (2n-2)\frac{z-\bar{z}}{2} \right) \right] \right\}$$

here $\sigma = x_1 + x_2 \mathbf{i} + x_3 \mathbf{j} + x_4 \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{H}$, $z = x_1 + |\operatorname{Im} \sigma| \mathbf{i}$, and c_{n-1} is the one in Theorem A.

Theorem 4.9. Suppose j = 1, ..., 4n-4, and we denote Y_j the left-invariant vector fields on \mathcal{H}^{n-1} . Then we have

$$|Y_j K(g)| \lesssim \frac{1}{\rho(g, \mathbf{0})^{Q+1}}, \quad g \in \mathfrak{H}^{n-1} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\},$$

where **0** is the neutral element of \mathcal{H}^{n-1} .

Then we further have the Cauchy–Szegő kernel K(g,h) on \mathfrak{H}^{n-1} $(g \neq h)$ satisfies the following conditions.

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(i)} \quad |K(g,h)| &\lesssim \frac{1}{\rho(g,h)^Q};\\ \text{(ii)} \quad |K(g,h) - K(g_0,h)| &\lesssim \frac{\rho(g,g_0)}{\rho(g_0,h)^{Q+1}}, \quad \text{if } \rho(g_0,h) \geq c\rho(g,g_0);\\ \text{(iii)} \quad |K(g,h) - K(g,h_0)| &\lesssim \frac{\rho(h,h_0)}{\rho(g,h_0)^{Q+1}}, \quad \text{if } \rho(g,h_0) \geq c\rho(h,h_0) \end{aligned}$$

for some constant c > 0, where Q = 4n + 2 is the homogeneous dimension of \mathcal{H}^{n-1} and ρ is defined in Section 2.

We also got the boundedness and compactness of the commutator of \mathcal{P} .

Corollary 4.1. Let all the notation be the same as above.

- (1) \mathcal{P} extends to a bounded operator on $L^p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ for 1 ;
- (2) \mathcal{P} is of weak type (1,1);

- (3) \mathcal{P} is bounded from $H^1(\mathfrak{H}^{n-1}) \to L^1(\mathfrak{H}^{n-1})$;
- (4) \mathcal{P} is bounded from $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1}) \to BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1});$
- (5) $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is bounded on $L^p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ for $1 if <math>b \in BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$;
- (6) $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is compact on $L^p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ for $1 if <math>b \in \text{VMO}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

However, to obtain reverse arguments of (5) and (6) above, we still need to know more about the pointwise lower bound of the kernel K.

Theorem 4.10. The Cauchy–Szegő kernel $K(\cdot, \cdot)$ on \mathfrak{H}^{n-1} satisfies the following pointwise lower bound: there exist a large positive constant r_0 and a positive constant C such that for every $g \in \mathfrak{H}^{n-1}$, there exists a "twisted truncated sector" $S_g \subset \mathfrak{H}^{n-1}$ such that

$$\inf_{g' \in S_g} \rho(g, g') = r_0$$

and that for every $g_1 \in B(g,1)$ and $g_2 \in S_g$ we have

$$|K(g_1, g_2)| \ge \frac{C}{\rho(g_1, g_2)^Q}$$

Moreover, this sector S_g is regular in the sense that $|S_g| = \infty$ and that for every $R_2 > R_1 > 2r_0$

$$\left| \left(B(g, R_2) \backslash B(g, R_1) \right) \cap S_g \right| \approx \left| B(g, R_2) \backslash B(g, R_1) \right|$$

with the implicit constants independent of g and R_1, R_2 .

By using the above Theorem, we established the boundedness and compactness of the commutator of \mathcal{P} with respect to BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1}) and VMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1}) in [20], following the ideas and approaches in [7, 17], respectively.

Theorem 4.11. Suppose $1 and <math>b \in L^1_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

(i) $b \in BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ if and only if $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is bounded on $L^p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

(ii) $b \in VMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ if and only if $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is compact on $L^p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

Theorem 4.12. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $\kappa \in (0, 1)$, $w \in A_p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ and $b \in L^1_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$. Then the Cauchy–Szegö operator commutator $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ has the following boundedness characterization:

- (i) If $b \in BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$, then $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is bounded on $L^{p, \kappa}_{w}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.
- (ii) If b is real-valued and $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is bounded on $L^{p, \kappa}_{w}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$, then $b \in BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

Based on the above Theorem, we further obtained the compactness characterization of Cauchy–Szegö operator commutator.

Theorem 4.13. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $\kappa \in (0, 1)$, $w \in A_p(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$ and $b \in BMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$. Then the Cauchy–Szegö operator commutator $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ has the following compactness characterization:

- (i) If $b \in \text{VMO}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$, then $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is compact on $L^{p, \kappa}_{w}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.
- (ii) If b is real-valued and $[b, \mathcal{P}]$ is compact on $L^{p, \kappa}_{w}(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$, then $b \in VMO(\mathcal{H}^{n-1})$.

References

- F. Beatrous and S. Y. Li, On the boundedness and compactness of operators of Hankel type, J. Funct. Anal., 1993, 111, 350–379.
- [2] R. Bu, Z. W. Fu and Y. D. Zhang, Weighted estimates for bilinear square function with non-smooth kernels and commutators, Front. Math. China, 2020, 15, 1–20.
- [3] J. Cao, Z. W. Fu, R. J. Jiang and D. C. Yang, Hardy spaces associated with a pair of commuting operators, Forum Math., 2015, 27(5), 2775–2824.
- [4] D.-C. Chang, X. T. Duong, J. Li, W. Wang and Q. Y. Wu, An explicit formula of Cauchy-Szegő kernel for quaternionic Siegel upper half space and applications, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 2021, 70(6), 2451–2477.
- [5] D.-C. Chang, Z. W. Fu, D. C. Yang and S. B. Yang, Real-variable characterizations of Musielak-Orlic-Hardy spaces associated with Schrödinger operators on domains, Math. Method. Appl. Sci., 2016, 39, 533–569.
- [6] D.-C. Chang, I. Markina and W. Wang, On the Cauchy–Szegö kernel for quaternion Siegel upper half-space, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory, 2013, 7(5), 1623– 1654.
- [7] P. Chen, X. T. Duong, J. Li and Q. Y. Wu, Compactness of Riesz trans form commutator on stratified Lie groups, J. Funct. Anal., 2019, 277, 1639–1676.
- [8] W. Chen, Z. W. Fu, L. Grafakos and Y. Wu, Fractional Fourier transforms on L^p and applications, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 2021, 55, 71–96.
- [9] W. Chen, Z. W. Fu and Y. Wu, Positive solutions for nonlinear Schrödinger-Kirchhoff equations in ℝ³, Appl. Math. Letters, 2020, 104, 106274.
- [10] Y. P. Chen and Y. Ding, Compactness of commutators of riesz potential on morrey spaces, Potential Anal., 2009, 30, 301–313.
- [11] Y. P. Chen and Y. Ding, Compactness of commutators for singular integrals on morrey spaces, Canad. J. Math., 2012, 64, 257–281.
- [12] J. C. Chen, D. S. Fan and J. Li, Hausdorff operators on function spaces, Chin. Math. Ann. Ser. B, 2012, 33, 537–556.
- [13] M. Chirst and L. Grafakos, Best constants for two non-convolution inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 1995, 123, 1687–1693.
- [14] J. Y. Chu, Z. W. Fu and Q. Y. Wu, The weighted L^p and BMO bounds for weighted Hardy operators on the Heisenberg group, J. Inequal. Appl., 2016, (2016), 282.
- [15] R. Coifman, R. Rochberg and G. Weiss, Factorization theorems for Hardy spaces in several variables, Ann. of Math., 1976, 103, 611–635.
- [16] B. H. Dong, Z. W. Fu and J. S. Xu. Riesz-Kolmogorov theorem in variable exponent Lebesgue spaces and its applications to Riemann-Liouville fractional differential equations, Sci. China Math., 2018, 61, 1807–1824.
- [17] X. T. Duong, M. Lacey, J. Li, B. D. Wick and Q. Y. Wu, Commutators of Cauchy-Szegő type integrals for domains in Cⁿ with minimal smoothness, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 2021, 70(4), 1505–1541.

- [18] X. T. Duong, H. Q. Li, J. Li and B. D. Wick, Lower bound for Riesz transform kernels and commutator theorems on stratified nilpotent Lie groups, J. Math. Pures Appl., 2019, 124, 273–299.
- [19] G. B. Folland and E. M. Stein, *Hardy Spaces on Homogeneous Groups, Mathematical Notes*, vol. 28, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982.
- [20] Z. W. Fu, R. M. Gong, E. Pozzi and Q. Y. Wu, Cauchy-Szegö commutators on weighted Morrey spaces, Math. Nachr., 2023, 296(5), 1859–1885.
- [21] Z. W. Fu, S. L. Gong, S. Z. Lu and W. Yuan, Weighted multilinear Hardy operators and commutators, Forum Math., 2015, 27, 2825–2852.
- [22] Z. W. Fu, L. Grafakos, Y. Lin, Y. Wu and S. H. Yang. Riesz transform associated with the fractional Fourier transform and applications in image edge detection, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 2023, 66, 211–235.
- [23] Z. W. Fu, X. M. Hou, M. Y. Lee and J. Li, A study of one-sided Singular integral and function space via reproducing formula, J. Geom. Anal., 2023, 33, 289.
- [24] Z. W. Fu, Z. G. Liu, S. Z. Lu and H. B. Wang, Characterization for commutators of n-dimensional fractional Hardy operators, Sci. China. Math., 2007, 50, 418–426.
- [25] Z. W. Fu, S. Z. Lu, Y. Pan and S. G. Shi, Some one-sided estimates for oscillatory singular integrals, Nonlinear Anal., 2014, 108(108), 144–160.
- [26] Z. W. Fu, S. Z. Lu, S. Sato and S. G. Shi, On weighted weak type norm inequalities for one-sided oscillatory singular integrals, Studia Math., 2011, 207(2), 137–151.
- [27] Z. W. Fu, S. Z. Lu and S. G. Shi, Two characterizations of central BMO space via the commutators of Hardy operators, Forum Math., 2021, 33(2), 505–529.
- [28] Z. W. Fu, S. Z. Lu and F. Y. Zhao, Commutators of n-dimensional rough Hardy operators, Sci. China. Math., 2011, 54, 95–104.
- [29] Z. W. Fu, E. Pozzi and Q. Y. Wu, Commutators of maximal functions on spaces of homogeneous type and their weighted, local versions, Front. Math. China, 2021, 16(5), 1269–1296.
- [30] Z. W. Fu, Q. Y. Wu and S. Z. Lu, Sharp estimates of p-adic Hardy and Hardy-Littlewood-Pólya operators, Acta Math. Sin.(English Ser.), 2013, 29(1), 137– 150.
- [31] R. M. Gong, M. N. Vempati, Q. Y. Wu and P. Z. Xie, Boundedness and compactness of Cauchy-type integral commutator on weighted Morrey spaces, J. Aust. Math. Soc., 2022, 113(1), 36–56.
- [32] L. F. Gu, Riemann-type problem in Hermitian Clifford analysis, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 2019, 42, 2585-2601.
- [33] L. F. Gu, Schwarz-type lemmas associated to a Helmholtz equation, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 2020, 30, 14(2020).
- [34] L. F. Gu, Schwarz-type lemmas associated to a Helmholtz equation, Appl. Math. Comput. 2020, 364, 1(2020).

- [35] L. F. Gu and Y. Y. Liu, The approximate solution of Riemann type problems for Dirac equations by Newton embedding method, J. Appl. Anal. Comput., 2020, 10, 326–334.
- [36] L. F. Gu, Y. Y. Liu and R. H. Lin, Some integral representation formulas and Schwarz lemmas related to perturbed Dirac operators, J. Appl. Anal. Comput., 2022, 12, 2475–2487.
- [37] L. F. Gu and D. W. Ma, Dirac operators with gradient potentials and related monogenic functions, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory, 2020, 14, 53(2020).
- [38] L. F. Gu and Z. X. Zhang, Riemann boundary value problem for harmonic functions in Clifford analysis, Math. Nachr., 2014, 287, 1001–1012.
- [39] X. Y. Guo and Z. W. Fu, An initial and boundary value problem of fractional Jeffreys' fluid in a porous half spaces, Computers Math. Appl., 2019, 78(6), 1801–1810.
- [40] L. Lanzani and E. Stein, The Cauchy–Szegő projection for domains in \mathbb{C}^n with minimal smoothness, Duke Math. J., 2017, 166, 125–176.
- [41] L. Lanzani and E. Stein, The Cauchy integral in \mathbb{C}^n for domains with minimal smoothness, Adv. Math., 2014, 264, 776–830.
- [42] J. F. Li and S. G. Shi, A local well-posed result for the fifth order KP-II initial value problem, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 2013, 402(2), 679–692.
- [43] F. Liu, Z. W. Fu and S. T. Jhang, Boundedness and continuity of Marcinkiewicz integrals associated to homogeneous mappings on Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Front. Math. China, 2019, 14, 95–122.
- [44] F. J. Martín-Reyes and A. be la Torre, One-sided BMO spaces, J. London Math. Soc., 1994, 49, 529–542.
- [45] F. Ricci and E. M. Stein, Harmonic analysis on nilpotent groups and singular integrals I: Oscillatory integrals, J. Funct. Anal., 1987, 73, 179–194.
- [46] J. M. Ruan, D. S. Fan and Q. Y. Wu, Weighted Herz space estimates for Hausdorff operators on the Heisenberg group, Banach J. Math. Anal., 2017, 11, 513–535.
- [47] J. M. Ruan, Q. Y. Wu and D. S. Fan, Weighted Morrey estimates for Hausdorff operator and its commutator on the Heisenberg group, Math. Inequal. Appl., 2019, 22(1), 307–329.
- [48] E. Sawyer, Weighted inequalities for the one-sided Hardy-Littlewood maximal function, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 1986, 297, 53–61.
- [49] S. G. Shi, Estimates for vector-valued commutators on weighted Morrey spaces and applications, Acta. Math. Sin.(English Ser.), 2013, 29(5), 883–896.
- [50] S. G. Shi, Some notes on supersolutions of fractional p-Laplace equation, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 463(2018), 1052–1074.
- [51] S. G. Shi, Z. W. Fu and S. Z. Lu, Weighted estimates for commutators of one-sided oscillatory operators, Front. Math. China, 2011, 6(3), 507–516.
- [52] S. G. Shi, Z. W. Fu and S. Z. Lu, On the compactness of commutators of Hardy operators, Pacific J. Math., 2020, 1(307), 239–256.

- [53] S. G. Shi, Z. W. Fu and F. Y. Zhao, Estimates for operators on weighted Morrey spaces and their applications to nondivergence elliptic equations, J. Inequal. Appl., 2013, 2013, 390.
- [54] S. G. Shi and J. F. Li, Global smoothing for the periodic Benjamin equation in low regularity spaces, Sci. China Math., 2013, 56(10), 2051–2061.
- [55] S. G. Shi and J. F. Li, Local well-posedness for periodic Benjamin equation with small initial data, Bound. Value Probl., 2015, 60, 1–15.
- [56] S. G. Shi and S. Z. Lu, Some characterizations of Campanato spaces via commutators on Morrey spaces, Pacific J. Math., 2013, 264, 221–234.
- [57] S. G. Shi and S. Z. Lu, A characterization of Campanato space via commutator of fractional integral, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 2014, 419, 123–137.
- [58] S. G. Shi and S. Z. Lu, Characterization of the central Campanato space via the commutator operator of Hardy type, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 2015, 429(3), 713–732.
- [59] S. G. Shi and S. Z. Lu, Some norm inequalities for commutators with symbol function in Morrey spaces, J. Math. Inequal., 2014, 8(4), 889–897.
- [60] S. G. Shi and J. Xiao, A tracing of the fractional temperature field, Sci. China Math., 2017, 60(11), 2303–2320.
- [61] S. G. Shi and J. Xiao, Fractional capacities relative to bounded open Lipschitz sets complemented, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 2017, 56, 3(2017).
- [62] S. G. Shi and J. Xiao, On fractional capacities relative to bounded open Lipschitz sets, Potential Anal., 2016, 45(2), 261–298.
- [63] S. G. Shi, Q. Y. Xue and K. Yabuta, On the boundedness of multilinear Littlewood-Paley g_{λ}^{*} function, J. Math. Pures Appl., 2014, 101(3), 394–413.
- [64] S. G. Shi, Z. C. Zhai and L. Zhang, Characterizations of the viscosity solution of a nonlocal and nonlinear equation induced by the fractional p-Laplace and the fractional p-convexity, Adv. Calc. Var., 2023. https://doi.org/10.1515/acv-2021-0110.
- [65] S. G. Shi and L. Zhang, Norm inequalities for higher order commutators of one sided oscillatory singular integrals, J. Inequal. Appl., 2016, 88(2016).
- [66] S. G. Shi and L. Zhang, Dual characterization of fractional capacity via solution of fractional p-Laplace equation, Math. Nachr., 2020, 2233–2247.
- [67] S. G. Shi, L. Zhang and G. L. Wang, Fractional non-linear regularity, potential and balayage, J. Geom. Anal., 2022, 32, 221(2022).
- [68] E. M. Stein and T. S. Murphy, Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton University Press, 1993.
- [69] A. Uchiyama, On the compactness of operators of Hankel type, Tôhoku Math. J., 1978, 30, 163–171.
- [70] Q. Y. Wu and D. S. Fan, Hardy space estimates of Hausdorff operators on the Heisenberg group, Nonlinear Anal., 2017, 164, 135–154.
- [71] Q. Y. Wu and Z. W. Fu, Weighted p-adic Hardy operators and their commutators on p-adic central Morrey spaces, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 2017, 40, 635–654.

- [72] Q. Y. Wu and Z. W. Fu, Boundedness of Hausdorff operators on Hardy spaces in the Heisenberg group, Banach J. Math. Anal., 2018, 12(4), 909–934.
- [73] Q. Y. Wu and Z. W. Fu, Sharp estimates for Hardy operators on Heisenberg group, Front. Math. China, 2016, 11(1), 155–172.
- [74] Q. Y. Wu, S. Z. Lu and Z. W. Fu, p-adic central function spaces and singular integral operators, China. J. Contemp. Math., 2016, 37(4), 1–18.
- [75] Y. Wu and W. Chen, On strong indefinite Schrodinger equations with nonperiodic potential, J. Appl. Anal. Comput., 2023, 13(1), 1–10.
- [76] M. H. Yang, Z. W. Fu and S. Y. Liu, Analyticity and existence of the Keller-Segel-Navier-Stokes equations in critical Besov spaces, Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 2018, 18, 517–535.
- [77] M. H. Yang, Z. W. Fu and J. Y. Sun, Existence and large time behavior to coupled chemotaxis-fluid equations in Besov-Morrey spaces, J. Differential Equations, 2019, 266, 5867–5894.
- [78] M. H. Yang, Z. W. Fu, J. Y. Sun and Z. Wang, The singular convergence of a Chemotaxis-Fluid system modeling coral fertilization, Acta Math. Sci., 2023, 43, 492–504.
- [79] M. H. Yang, Y. M. Zi and Z. W. Fu, An application of BMO-type space to Chemotaxis-fluid equation, Acta Math. Sinica (English Ser.), 2023, 39, 1650– 1666.
- [80] S. B. Yang, D.-C. Chang, D. C. Yang and Z. W. Fu, Gradient estimates via rearrangements for solutions of some Schrödinger equations, Anal. Appl., 2018, 16, 339–361.
- [81] Y. N. Yang, Q. Y. Wu and S. T. Jhang, 2D linear canonical transforms on L^p and applications, Fractal Fract., 2023, 7(12), 100.
- [82] Y. N. Yang, Q. Y. Wu, S. T. Jhang and Q. Q. Kang, Approximation theorems associated with multidimensional fractional Fourier transform and applications in Laplace and heat equations, Fractal. Fract., 2022, 6(11), 625.
- [83] F. Y. Zhao, Z. W. Fu and S. Z. Lu, M_p weights for bilinear Hardy operators on \mathbb{R}^n , Collect. Math., 2014, 65, 87–102.
- [84] F. Y. Zhao and S. Z. Lu, A characterization of λ-central BMO space, Front. Math. China, 2013, 8, 229–238.